
BCP Council Offices, Town Hall, Bourne Avenue, Bournemouth BH2 6DY 

 

 
 

 

Notice of Health and Adult Social Care Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee 
 

Date: Monday, 18 January 2021 at 6.00 pm 

Venue: Microsoft Teams 
 

Membership: 

Chairman: 
Cllr J Edwards 

Vice Chairman: 
Cllr L-J Evans 

Cllr D Butler 
Cllr D Farr 
Cllr C Johnson 
 

Cllr A Jones 
Cllr C Matthews 
Cllr M Robson 
 

Cllr R Rocca 
Cllr S Phillips 
Cllr K Wilson 
 

 

All Members of the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee are 
summoned to attend this meeting to consider the items of business set out on the agenda 
below. 
 
The press and public are welcome to view the live stream of this meeting at the following 
link: 
 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?MId=4321 
 
If you would like any further information on the items to be considered at the meeting please 
contact: Democratic Services or email democratic.services@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
 
Press enquiries should be directed to the Press Office: Tel: 01202 454668 or 
email press.office@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 
  
This notice and all the papers mentioned within it are available at democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 

A
v
a

ila
b
le

 o
n

lin
e
 a

n
d

 

o
n
 t

h
e
 M

o
d
.g

o
v
 a

p
p
 

 

 

 

 

 
GRAHAM FARRANT 

 

CHIEF EXECUTIVE 
 

 

8 January 2021 
 



 

 anne.brown@bcpcouncil.gov.uk 

 



 

 

AGENDA 
Items to be considered while the meeting is open to the public 

1.   Apologies  

 To receive any apologies for absence from Councillors. 
 

 

2.   Substitute Members  

 To receive information on any changes in the membership of the 
Committee. 
 
Note – When a member of a Committee is unable to attend a meeting of a 
Committee or Sub-Committee, the relevant Political Group Leader (or their 
nominated representative) may, by notice to the Monitoring Officer (or their 
nominated representative) prior to the meeting, appoint a substitute 
member from within the same Political Group. The contact details on the 
front of this agenda should be used for notifications. 
 

 

3.   Declarations of Interests  

 Councillors are requested to declare any interests on items included in this 
agenda. Please refer to the workflow on the preceding page for guidance. 

Declarations received will be reported at the meeting. 
 

 

4.   Confirmation of Minutes 5 - 16 

 To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 30 November 2020. 
 

 

5.   Action Sheet 17 - 18 

 To note and comment as required on the action sheet which tracks 
decisions, actions and outcomes arising from previous Committee 
meetings. 
 

 

6.   Public Issues  

 To receive any public questions, statements or petitions submitted in 
accordance with the Constitution, which is available to view at the following 
link: 
 
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=15
1&Info=1&bcr=1   
 
The deadline for the submission of a public question is 4 clear working days 
before the meeting. 
 
The deadline for the submission of a public statement is midday the 
working day before the meeting. 
 
The deadline for the submission of a petition is 10 working days before the 
meeting. 
 

 

https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1
https://democracy.bcpcouncil.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeID=151&Info=1&bcr=1


 
 

 

7.   Portfolio Holders' Update  

 To receive any updates from the relevant Portfolio Holders on key issues or 
actions that have been taken since the last meeting, as appropriate. 
 

 

8.   COVID-19 Update  

 (18:30 – 19:00)* 
 
For the Committee to receive an update from Adult Social Care Services on 
COVID-19, to enable the Committee to monitor the ongoing pandemic and 
scrutinise the ongoing response to COVID-19. 
 

 

9.   Home First Programme (including update on the Better Care Fund) 19 - 30 

 (19:00-19:30)* 
 
For the Committee to consider and scrutinise the local response to the 
national Hospital Discharge Policy and the Home First approach. 
 

 

10.   BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan 31 - 86 

 (19:30-20:00)* 
 
For the Overview and Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise and review the BCP 
Council Suicide Prevention Plan 2021-23. 
 

 

11.   Forward Plan 87 - 94 

 To consider and comment as appropriate on the development of the 
Committee’s Forward Plan. 
 

 

 
 
* Approximate timings. 



 – 1 – 
 

BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE COUNCIL 
 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

 
Minutes of the Meeting held on 30 November 2020 at 6.00 pm 

 
Present:- 

  

Cllr L-J Evans – Vice-Chairman 

 
Present: Cllr D Butler, Cllr J Edwards, Cllr A Jones, Cllr C Matthews, 

Cllr M Robson, Cllr R Rocca, Cllr K Wilson, Cllr L Fear, Cllr S Phillips 
and Cllr D Farr 

 
  

 
91. Apologies  

 
Apologies were received from Cllr C Johnson. 
 

92. Substitute Members  
 
Cllr L Fear substituted for Cllr C Johnson for this meeting. 
 

93. Election of Chair of the Health and Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee  
 
RESOLVED that Cllr J Edwards be elected Chair of the Health and 
Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee for the remainder 
of the 2020/21 Municipal Year. 
 

94. Declarations of Interests  
 
Councillors made the following declarations of interest: 
Cllr L-J Evans declared, for transparency, that she was an employee of the 
University Hospitals Dorset Foundation Trust. Cllr L-J Evans also declared 
that she was a previous member of the Tricuro Executive Shareholder 
Group and would therefore not participate in Item 9. 
Cllr J Edwards declared that she was a current member of the Tricuro 
Executive Shareholder Group and would therefore not participate in Item 9. 
Cllr C Matthews declared, for transparency, that he was a governor for the 
Dorset Healthcare University NHS Foundation Trust. 
 

95. Confirmation of Minutes  
 
The minutes of the meeting held on 28 September 2020 were approved as 
a correct and accurate record. 
 

96. Public Issues  
 

5

Agenda Item 4



– 2 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

There were no public questions, statements or petitions received for this 
meeting. 
 

97. Action Sheet  
 
A Councillor commented on minute number 59, The Big Plan. Members 
heard in an update from the Democratic Officer that, since the Action Sheet 
was published, BCP Council had considered and endorsed the People First 
Forum’s Bill of Rights Charter at their meeting on 24 November 2020. 
Following this update, the action sheet was noted. 
 

98. COVID19 Winter Response  
 
The Committee received a presentation from the Director of Public Health 
Dorset and the Chief Officer of Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group on the 
COVID-19 NHS Winter response.  
The Director of Public Health Dorset explained the context of the current 
situation. Members heard that lockdown had been effective at bringing 
cases down and the 7-day case rate per 100,000 of the Bournemouth, 
Christchurch and Poole (BCP) population had decreased from 250 to 94 in 
the last two weeks.  9600 people were being tested per week in BCP and 
Pillar 2, community transmissions, had dropped from 9% down to 4.5% in 
the last fortnight. The Director of Public Health Dorset’s assessment was 
that Tier 1 restrictions were not able to limit the rise of infections, hence the 
national decision to exit cautiously on 2 December 2020. 
The Committee were shown data on the epidemic curve to November 28 
and the main points highlighted were:  

 The Steep increase during September, fuelled by summer travel and 

the return of schools 

 The second escalation in October which was partly due to the return 

of students  

 The continued climb until mid-November  

 The decline from the 5 November due to the national measures 

imposed. 

 
The Director for Public Health Dorset explained the measures taken to 
prepare for Winter, the main actions being:  

 Two local outbreak management plans had been developed across 

both BCP and Dorset unitary Councils. 

 Public health teams were supporting the response to COVID-19 in 

complex settings. These teams work alongside Council and NHS 

colleagues to ensure that the right actions were being taken to limit 

and contain the spread of COVID-19.  

 24/7 on-call consultant advice service has been provided. 

 Day response team handle incidents and support the different 

sectors. 

6



– 3 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

 EpiCell (collaboration of intelligence leads organisations) had 

produced near-term forecasts and reports on the local hospital 

admissions and subsequent impact on capacity. 

The Committee heard that a typical week during the surge saw around 90 
separate incidents and that these single, positive cases were affecting a 
mixture of settings, such as: care homes, school, workplaces and 
healthcare settings. Members were informed that strong working 
relationships with both Councils and NHS partners had limited the spread. 
The Director for Public Health Dorset informed the Committee of the 
contain and enable strategy, which detailed the longer-term intervention. 
The Committee heard that: 

 A medium-term response to COVID-19 was being developed in 

order to progress from the continual acute response.  

 Local contact tracing was improving and closer integration with NHS 

Test and Trace was developing. 

 A Local Contact Tracing Partnership with NHS Test and Trace, along 

with other models to improve local follow up, is being developed. 

 
On the issue of transmission, the Committee heard that transmission rates 
were being driven by increasing transmission among the younger age 
groups and that the virus was most spread within and between households. 
Furthermore, infection rates were higher than was to be desired among 
older residents and this was impacting on hospitals and the care sector. 
Finally, Members heard that the public should continue to observe social 
distancing measures and face coverings as limiting social contact is the 
most effective tool for lowering infection rates. 
A review of the tiers system will be reviewed on 16 December and weekly 
thereafter and Members heard what measures would be considered as part 
of this decision.  
 
The Chief Officer of Dorset CCG explained the Phase 3 Plan Overview and 
the return to near normal levels of NHS service. The Committee heard that:  

 Good progress had been made in maintaining essential services and 

prioritising most clinically urgent patients.  

 The restoration of critical services such as urgent surgery and 

cancer had required full use of capacity and the use of the 

independent sector,  

 Despite positive work undertaken, the standards required by NHS 

England won’t be achieved. 

 A digital approach was becoming more prevalent. The use of 

technology in support of patient care, improved timeliness and use of 

data/intelligence, pathway changes such as discharge, self-direct 

help and support and an overall focus on staff wellbeing had been 

achieved. 

 There was visible cooperative working amongst teams, clinical 

leadership across the entire system and increased pace and agility 

of decision making. 

7



– 4 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

 Services such as cancer, primary/community care, mental health 

and learning disabilities and urgent/emergency care were targeted 

for waiting time reductions and the reduction of backlogs. 

 Targets of 70, 80, 90 and 100% of patients being processed through 

different service areas were set in order to prevent a significant 

backlog and 25% of outpatient appointments were hoped to be 

delivered by telephone or video come March 2021. 

 Most tests or procedures were currently between 0-20% below 

planned trajectories. 

 7718 people will have waited over 52 weeks for treatment by end of 

March 2021.  

 General Practice (GP) had always been open with surgeries 

continued to provide consultations albeit remotely, though where 

clinically appropriate all patients are seen in a suitable and safe 

environment. General Practice had provided guidance and 

alternative care as well as prioritising some services between March 

and July 2020. 

 Telephone appointments with GPs had doubled since Pre COVID-19 

and in total, activity was now exceeding normal levels. The ratio of 

appointments was 65% routine and 35% urgent. 

 Significant efforts were being made to maintain and strengthen 

stakeholder relationships in order to keep people involved and 

informed. 

 Winter preparations incorporated the lessons learnt from the first 

wave. Focus was on the management patients with COVID-19 in the 

community in order to reduce hospital burden and continued support 

was provided to high risk groups and care homes. 

 The key challenges included the full delivery of Phase 3 

requirements, urgent care and emergency lines (111 and 999), 

workforce and national staffing shortages, recued theatre and bed 

capacity, PPE impact on productivity and public anxiety. 

 
The Committee asked several questions following the presentation. 
Answers were provided by the Director of Public Health Dorset, the Chief 
Officer of Dorset CCG, the Chief Executive of the University Hospitals 
Dorset NHS Foundation Trust, the UHD NHS Director of Nursing and the 
NHS Dorset GP Representative. The questions and answers included:  

 Flu vaccine uptake and the effect it would have on COVID-19 

immunity. The Committee heard that as the viruses were different, 

flu vaccination would not prevent the transmission of COVID-19. 

 The easing of lockdown restrictions and the tier system review rate. 

Members were informed that Public Health England viewed the 

cautious restrictions as sensible and that the review date of 16 

December would be sufficient to see if the trajectory was steadily 

decreasing. The Director of Public Health Dorset explained that it 

8



– 5 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

would be detrimental to exit restrictions too quickly, especially if this 

meant that further measures needed to be applied at a later date.  

 The impact COVID-19 has had on the capacity for blood testing. The 

Chief Executive of the University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation 

Trust explained that the national issue with supply chains had been 

resolved and urgent blood tests were being conducted and this 

involved cooperative working with Dorset GPs 

 Waiting times for 111 service and whether increases to emergency 

lines were observed. The Committee heard that there had been an 

increase in demand for the 111 service and that this often related to 

a news article or something happening in the community that 

prompted people to make contact. Members were informed that the 

NHS had increased their capacity of 111 call handlers, therefore 

despite seeing urgent demand they were also responding to it. 

 Digital consultations and whether the use of remote calls/video 

appointments had caused issues for some members of society. It 

was explained to the Committee that there were two varieties of 

video conferencing – aquRX and Airmed. These methods had 

enabled the number of telephone consultations to increase. One of 

the highest demographics impacted by this change in appointment 

format was those individuals with a learning disability. A lot of work 

had been done to enable digital consultations to take place with this 

demographic. Furthermore, the older demographics do not find it 

easy to use technology and may require carers or family to help. 

Follow up out-patient appointments have also included the use of 

virtual calls. Members heard that it was important to have a menu of 

options for people accessing the GP services in order to cater for all 

needs and abilities across the conurbation. The Chief Executive of 

the University Hospitals Dorset NHS Foundation Trust informed the 

Committee that 50,000 remote consultations had been conducted 

and that 34% of consultations were being held virtually; feedback 

was that users were 95% likely to recommend the virtual format to 

others. However, the Dorset Healthcare perspective was that some 

patient groups had not responded well to this and that further 

canvassing was being conducted to find out how people were finding 

the changes to appointments. 

 The impact that the pandemic was having on NHS staff and what 

wellbeing measures were being provided. The Director of Nursing 

explained that there was a variety of means to support staff and that 

the core principle was the importance of communicating clearly. This 

took place via staff briefings, briefings from the Chief Executive, 

having adequate breaks, provision of safe spaces, space for staff to 

distance. Furthermore, showing recognition to staff and encouraging 

the value of clinical teams working together enables resilience. 

Recognise the value of teams, where we have good strong clinical 

teams working together it protects everyone’s resilience. 

Investments have been made in psychologists and psychological 

9



– 6 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

support and the aim to create a multi-faceted approach, including the 

building of networks was hoped to see staff morale and wellbeing 

strengthened. In addition, Members heard that there is a Speak Up 

guardian who staff can use to raise issues. On a question of patient 

testing, the Committee were informed that the hospital test their 

patients and isolate as necessary by way of the very strong hospital 

pathway; featuring the blue pathway and green pathway. 

 The possibility of prescription, testing and workforce shortages post-

Brexit. The Committee were informed that a large quantity of these 

items was now manufactured inside the United Kingdom. Previously, 

95% was coming in overseas but that percentage has diminished. 

The NHS had put in place procedures around supply on a massive 

scale and is very well prepared. Furthermore, members were told 

that there were a lot of challenges in place to fill workforce gaps in 

the NHS and that Brexit had not helped resolve this shortage in the 

short term. Lots of work was being done to try and fill this short-term 

gap. Overseas recruitment was not the only way the NHS was trying 

to fill the workforce gaps. Retention of staff is a immense aspect of 

resolving the staffing problem.  

 Issues with dentistry and NHS dental provision. The manager of 

Healthwatch Dorset informed the Committee that they had sent a 

report to dental commissioning team of NHS England hoping to find 

out if COVID-19 was making patients reluctant to seek dental help.  

 The Committee heard that Healthwatch Dorset had recruited a 

young officer and would be commissioning a team to best find how 

to reach young people and obtain their views on healthcare. It was 

heard that the 25 to 50 age group were likely to use social media 

and could possibly be reached by interactive functions available on 

those platforms.  

 
RESOLVED that the Committee agreed to note the update on the 
Dorset NHS and Public Health Dorset COVID19 Winter response. 
 
 
 
 

99. Report on the Development and Performance of Tricuro  
 
The Committee received an update on the management and status of 
services provided on behalf of BCP by Tricuro. The Finance Director of 
Tricuro provided information on the effect of COVID-19, a position 
statement on service modernisation and the transformation plan, an update 
relating to quality improvement, an update on safety and finally a financial 
position statement. 
 
Members were referred to the covering report for the context of the update. 
The main points of the Finance Director’s presentation were:  

10



– 7 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

 An immediate response took place at the start of the COVID-19 

pandemic, even before national measures were introduced.  

 Care Homes were closed to visitors which helped the initial 

circumstances. 

 Infection and death rates have been lower than national figures. 

 Control measures were assessed, strict infection control measures 

from Tricuro’s creation – able to adapt to policy and guidance. 

 PPE supply chains have been difficult however we have purchased 

government supplied PPE and have stockpiled. We have not been 

aware of any struggles to obtain PPE in a safe manner. 

 Performance has been above standard expectation. 

 Lifestyle and complexities of lifestyles have been challenging, 

especially for things like visiting. Consultation has taken place with 

families and clients. Technology has benefited this move and virtual 

conferencing and calls have taken place to support clients and 

families. 

 Maintaining a high level of staff morale has been important. A regular 

news cycle keeps staff updated across the service.  

 Flexibility has been a key staffing strategy in order to best place 

workers across the 12 residential homes, 25-day services and 

numerous reablement services across Bournemouth and Dorset. An 

example of this is where staff from closed day services have been 

transferred to support other areas. Up to a dozen staff have had to 

isolate due to showing symptoms.  

 Agency costs have been kept only fractionally higher than normal. 

 During the second wave, there has been only one positive case 

within any of our services. 

 Work is progressing in partnership with commissioners to assess 

how the stock of buildings and staffing can be best used to deliver 

for future needs. A transformation program has been created start of 

2020 in order to assess the future needs/requirements of the local 

authority in order to develop services in response to this. This is not 

exclusive to Tricuro but is being assessed across the whole system. 

 Reablement services in Bournemouth and Dorset have been brought 

together to offer a single service across the whole county. 

 Considerable saving of funds have been made when recruiting new 

staff. 

 Adjustments have been made throughout services, yearly, to 

achieve financial efficiency. The transformation program is not a 

financial savings program but will contain savings and funding 

efficiencies.  

 The modernisation of day services has been another part of the 

transformation program.  

 The financial results of the previous year saw Tricuro make a post-

tax profit of £556,000. This is positive, given challenges faced, and 

can be reinvested in local services as appropriate. However, this 

11



– 8 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

figure is a very small percentage of the overall value and costs of 

Tricuro.  

 Tricuro has been opened up to private income outside of local 

authority contracts and is looking at how best it can use its current 

stock. For example, day services buildings were in excess of the 

requirements of clients and staff, therefore more clients could be 

brought in and cared for by utilising the flexible staffing model. This 

lead to £1.8 million of private income.  

 Retained earnings stand at just under £2million and Tricuro’s annual 

turnover is around £42 million. This does not provide a huge amount 

of cashflow protection but the company’s cashflow is healthy, 

meaning payments are made up front and there is not currently a 

cash balance problem. 

 
The Committee asked several questions following the presentation. 
Answers were provided by the Finance Director of Tricuro and the Director 
of Adult Social Care Commissioning. The questions and responses 
included:  
 

 Whether lessons that had been learned on service delivery during 

the COVID-19 pandemic. The Committee heard that adaptations to 

the method of delivering day services and the use of technology 

were successful. Part of this process was the new digital 

transformation officer, who was a senior carer in the services with 

experience in technology. 

 Whether steps could be taken in better understanding the needs of 

BCP residents. The Director of Adult Social Care Commissioning 

informed the Committee that work on a market position statement 

had been commissioned in order to understand, in detail, the 

expenditure on adult social care. Following this, a review of the 

current strategies on care homes and the changing demand from 

COVID-19 will be completed to assess what type of care is most in 

demand and where in the conurbation are the highest areas of 

demand. 

 If staff development, including promotion and training opportunities 

were available to develop staffing. The Committee heard that Tricuro 

had 1500 staff members and that staffing costs accounted for 80% of 

total costs; staff are the biggest asset in Tricuro. The Finance 

Director explained that Tricuro had started a new, people strategy 

that assesses the suite of staff and their pathways within the 

organisation. Members heard that recruitment was potentially a big 

issue at present and that Tricuro were are looking at methods to 

induct staff and overcome challenges in developing staff skills. One 

aim was to ensure that care work was viewed as a career with 

prospects, where there are good earnings for residential home 

managers and middle management as well as a longstanding career 

with opportunities available. It was explained that the hope was to 

12



– 9 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

provide a good financial income, backed up with  opportunities, 

training and support that staff needed to progress. 

 If profits made by Tricuro could be ringfenced to be reinvested in 

service delivery and what areas required most investment. The 

Finance Director for Tricuro explained that the profit made in the 

opening 4-5 years of Tricuro’s lifetime was stored in the general 

reserve. The profit can only be paid back as dividends to the Local 

Authority. Members were told that profits were small and reserves 

are not big enough to support the company. 

 Who could stakeholders hold accountable for decision making within 

Tricuro. Members were informed of the governance arrangements 

within Tricuro and that 10 elected members, 5 from BCP and 5 from 

Dorset, made up Tricuro’s Executive Shareholder Group (ESG). 

 Whether there were any tax implications when Tricuro makes a 

profit. It was explained that all profits were subject to corporation tax 

and that Tricuro are audited by external, independent auditing 

company, who ensure that all tax returns are compliant and that any 

dividends get paid out after tax. 

 What induction programs or training was in place for newly recruited 

staff and does this include any further training or specialisation 

offers. The Committee heard that Tricuro were redesigning their 

induction programme from top to bottom, to include a three-stage 

induction. The induction programme would include, at its first stage, 

a brief overview of company and basic training. There would also be 

mandatory training on PPE, health and safety. The second stage 

would involve information on finance and HR. The third stage would 

look at the specifics of the service area the member of staff was 

being placed. This would be bolstered with a suite of training in order 

to ensure that staffs’ personal plans were best supported with 

training and managing support offer. 

 
RESOLVED that the Committee agreed, having scrutinised the 
contents of the report and being mindful of potential future 
scrutiny, to note the content of the report. 

 
 
 

100. Portfolio Holder Update  
 
The Portfolio Holder for Adults and the Portfolio Holder for Covid 
Resilience, Public Health and Education provided an update on the work 
that had taken place since the last meeting of the Health and Adults Social 
Care O&S Committee.  
The main points of the update from the Portfolio Holder for Adults were as 
follows:  

• The Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care had attended various 

board meetings, including the Joint Public Health Board, the 

13



– 10 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

Safeguarding Adults Board, the Learning Disability Partnership 

Board and was looking ahead to attending the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and the Tricuro Executive Shareholders Group 

meeting. 

• Furthermore, the Portfolio Holder for Adult Social Care had held 

weekly briefings with the Corporate Director of Adult Social Care 

and several Service Directors.  

• Recent Adult Social Care briefings had been delivered to around 250 

members of staff. 

• Positive feedback and recognition of work to staff during the 

pandemic was given.  

• An all member seminar, delivered by the People First Forum, was 

delivered in October. The session was very informative and was 

attended by over 45 Councillors. This session preceded the 

Council meeting in November where the People First Forum’s Bill 

of Rights Charter was formally adopted. 

• Presentations on the Front Door service had been delivered with 

members in attendance. The aim going forward was for the 

session to be widened out to all Councillors throughout early 

2021. 

• The lead member for Engagement was working on the ‘Asset Based 

Community Development (ABCD) and a possible seminar may 

be held early next year on this project. 

• Several champions had been selected within the Health and Adult 

Social Care area, these were: Cllrs L Fear (Mental Health), D 

Butler (Learning Disability), J Bagwell (Disability), J Edwards 

(Dementia) and M Howell (Wellbeing).  

 
The main points of the update from the Portfolio Holder for COVID 
Resilience, Public Health and Education were as follows:  
 

• Following the Council’s change in administration, the Leader was 

keen for a cross-cutting role to be created, one that would 

observe and contribute to the COVID-19 response, as well as 

ensuring that all services were mindful of COVID-19 in their work. 

• The Portfolio Holder had recently chaired the Joint Public Health 

Board with Dorset Council. As expected, the focus was on 

COVID-19.   

• The Portfolio Holder will chair the Health and Wellbeing Board this 

week, which will also include focus on the community response.  

• Regular updates on the COVID-19 response would continue to be 

sent out to all members.  

• Work by the local outbreak board had stepped up to ensure there is 

a full response across the public sector. Tracking was 10% below 

national average since mid-September and BCP must not 

jeopardise the gains made by extraordinary efforts of residence. 

Therefore, restrictions should continue to be observed by all. 

14



– 11 – 

HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY 
COMMITTEE 

30 November 2020 
 

 
There were no questions following the Portfolio Holder’s update. 
 

101. Forward Plan  
 
The Committee considered the Forward Plan and the following suggestions 
were made: 

 For an update on the Homelessness Strategy combined with the 

wider Housing Strategy. 

 
RESOLVED that the Forward Plan was agreed and approved by the 
Committee. 
 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 9.30 pm  

 CHAIRMAN 

15



This page is intentionally left blank

16



ACTION SHEET – BOURNEMOUTH, CHRISTCHURCH AND POOLE ADULT HEALTH AND SOCIAL CARE OVERVIEW AND 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 

Minute 
number 

Item  Action*  
*Items remain until action completed. 

Benefit Outcome (where 
recommendations 
are made to other 
bodies) 

 
Actions arising from Committee meeting: 2 March 2020 

63 COVID-19  For the Chairman to work with Key Officers on 
how best to consider the ongoing issue of 
Covid-19. 
 
Action: For regular, brief email updates on 
the Council’s COVID-19 ASC response to 
be circulated to members and for an 
update to be presented to Committee at 
their meetings. 
 

For members to receive 
up to date, expert 
information on the 
ongoing issue of Covid-
19. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
Actions arising from Committee meeting: 28 September 2020 
 

88 Joint Business 
Plan 2020-22 of 
the Dorset and 
Bournemouth, 
Christchurch & 
Poole 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board - 
Annual Report 

For members to receive answers to the 
questions for the panel section of the 
“Feedback from ‘Harry Learning Event” in 
Appendix 2 of the report. 
 
 

For members to monitor 
what actions are being 
taken to identify and 
improve the support, 
challenges, risks and 
opportunities when 
dealing with vulnerable 
adults. 

 

17

A
genda Item

 5



Minute 
number 

Item  Action*  
*Items remain until action completed. 

Benefit Outcome (where 
recommendations 
are made to other 
bodies) 

2019-20 of the 
Bournemouth, 
Christchurch & 
Poole 
Safeguarding 
Adults Board 

 
Actions arising from Committee meeting: 30 November 2020 
 

101 Health services 
for people who 
are Homeless 
and Rough 
Sleeping 
 
 
 
 
 

For the Committee to scrutinise the health 
services available to people who are homeless 
and the Homelessness Strategy prior to 
Cabinet in March 2021. 
 
Action: The format of this item will be 
reviewed following an all-member 
information session on 7 January 2021, in 
order to best target scrutiny.  

For members to monitor 
the relevant services 
available for people who 
are homeless as well as 
contribute to the 
Council’s Homelessness 
Strategy prior to Cabinet 
in March 2021. 

TBC 

 

 

 

18



HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  Home First Programme (including update on the Better Care 
Fund) 

Meeting date  18 January 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  Due to the Covid 19 Pandemic NHS England and Improvement 
advised Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWB) that Better Care Fund 
(BCF) Plans would not be submitted for approval for the 20/21 year 
or submit local targets, including Delayed Transfers of Care. HWB 
areas must, however, ensure that use of the mandatory funding 
contributions for the BCF have been agreed in writing, and that the 
national conditions are met. 

From 19th March 2020, integrated care systems including Dorset put 
into place the national Hospital Discharge Service Policy to enable 
hospitals and services to meet an expected first surge of COVID-19. 
Additional funding has been made available to support this, providing 
fully funded care for people discharged from hospital with care and 
support needs from 19 March 2020 to 31 August 2020. The Council 
continue to fund some elements of these costs related to hospital 
discharge including some from BCF budgets. From the 1st 
September revised hospital discharge policy commenced with the 
Government funding up to 6 weeks additional care including 
rehabilitation and reablement from 1 September 2020 to 31 March 
2021.  

The report provides a summary of the new hospital discharge 
service, the changes, activity and learning from patient experience. 

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 2.1 Committee members scrutinise the local response to the 
national Hospital Discharge Policy and the Home First 
approach. 

 2.2 Request a report in Autumn 2021 on the outcomes of and 
learning from the implementation of full Home First approach 
across the Dorset Integrated Care System. 

Reason for 
recommendations 

The Dorset Integrated Care System has been responsive in 
deploying services in order to meet the requirements of the new 
national Hospital Discharge Policy. The has had an impact on BCP 
Council residents and on the infrastructure of local services and staff 
working within the Integrated Care System. It is important that the 
Committee scrutinise the initial implementation of the Home First 
approach and agree how to scrutinise the long-term outcomes of this 
significant programme. 

  

19

Agenda Item 9



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Karen Rampton 

Corporate Director  Jan Thurgood 

Report Authors Elaine Stratman, Head of Strategic Planning and Quality Assurance 

Phil Hornsby, Director of Adult Social Care Commissioning 

David Vitty, Director of Adult Social Care Services 

Kate Calvert, Assistant Director, Dorset Clinical Commissioning 
Group 

Vanessa Reid, Director, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group 

Kristin Dominy, Deputy Chief Executive, Dorset Healthcare 

Wards  Council-wide  

Classification  For Scrutiny 
Title:  

Background 

1. The government’s mandate to the NHS, published in March 2020, set a deliverable for the NHS to 
‘help ensure delivery of its wider priorities, which include to further improve the experience of NHS 
patients, working with local government to support integration and the sustainability of social care 
through the Better Care Fund (BCF). 

2. However, Health and Wellbeing Boards (HWBs) were then advised that BCF policy and planning 
requirements would not be published during the initial response to the COVID-19 pandemic.  

3. From 19th March 2020, integrated care systems including Dorset put into place the nationally 
mandated Hospital Discharge Service Policy in response to the Department of Health and Social 
Care publication of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) hospital discharge service requirements to enable 
hospitals and services to meet an expected first surge of COVID-19. 

4. Because of the ongoing pressures on systems due to the pandemic, NHS England and NHS 
Improvement agreed that formal BCF plans did not have to be submitted for approval in the 2020/ 
2021 financial year. 

5. In line with this HWB areas were not expected to submit local targets for the BCF national metrics 
for the 2020/21 financial year but should continue to work as a system to make progress. National 
reporting of Delayed Transfers of Care was suspended from 19 March 2020.  

6. During 2020 to 2021, additional funding has been made available to support the Hospital Discharge 
Service Policy, providing fully funded care for people discharged from hospital with additional care 
and support needs from 19 March 2020 to 31 August 2020 (also known as Scheme 1). The Council 
has been required to continue to fund some elements of these costs, where the Council had budgets 
related to hospital discharge.  This included relevant budgets in the Better Care Fund for services 
such as reablement. From 1st September a revised hospital discharge policy and operating model 
replaced the Scheme 1 scheme with the Government funding up to 6 weeks reablement or 
rehabilitation from 1 September 2020 to 31 March 2021 (also known as Scheme 2). HWB areas were 
asked to place the additional funding into a pooled fund including monies that a Council would 
otherwise have spent including BCF funds, governed by a section 75 agreement, this additional 
funding is not covered by BCF national conditions. 

7. HWB areas must, however, ensure that use of the mandatory funding contributions for the Better 
Care Fund (Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) minimum contribution, improved Better Care Fund 
(iBCF) grant and the Disabled Facilities Grant) have been agreed in writing, and that the national 
conditions are met which are: 

a. Plans covering all mandatory funding contributions have been agreed by HWB areas and 
minimum contributions are pooled in a section 75 agreement. 

20



b. The contribution to social care from the CCG via the BCF is agreed and meets or exceeds 
the minimum expectation. 

c. Spend on CCG commissioned out of hospital services meets or exceeds the minimum 
ringfence. 

d. CCGs and local authorities confirm compliance with the above conditions to their Health 
and Wellbeing Boards. 

8. HWBs will be required to provide an end of year reconciliation to NHS England/ Improvement, 
confirming that the national conditions have been met and total spend from the mandatory funding 
sources and a breakdown of spend is agreed. 

9. It has been confirmed by NHS England that the BCF will continue into 2021/22 and that Policy 
Framework and Planning Requirements for the financial year will be published in early 2021.  

10. With the implementation of the Hospital Discharge Policy and the Home First model being adopted 
this will need to be a key consideration in developing plans for the 2020/21 financial year. 

The Hospital Discharge Service (Scheme 1) Implementation March 2020  

11. As stated above from 19th March 2020, the Dorset system rapidly put into place the nationally 
mandated model of Discharge to Assess in response to the Department of Health and Social Care 
publication of the Coronavirus (COVID-19) Hospital Discharge Service Requirements. This was to 
enable hospitals and services to meet an expected first surge of COVID-19.  

12. The purpose of the policy was: 

a. to free-up hospital bed-space by streamlining the discharge process. 

b. to make staff available to respond to cases of greatest need through administrative 
streamlining of assessments  

13. The policy also highlighted:  

a. the suspension of the CCG’s duty to assess for Continuing Healthcare eligibility and; 

b. suspend the duty on acute trusts to serve an assessment notice to refer a case to a local 
authority.  

14. In order to ensure people’s needs continue to be met, the Government made available funding to the 
NHS to support the meeting of health and social care needs during the period, which is administered, 
along with local authority funding, through a pooled budget. This provided fully funded care for people 
either to prevent a hospital admission or were discharged from hospital with additional care and 
support needs from 19 March 2020 to 31 August 2020. 

15. The Hospital Discharge Service commenced operating 8am-8pm 7 days a week, existing teams 
working extra hours and in a different way were mobilised in order to meet the increase in operating 
hours. The management and the co-ordination of the service was managed by a multi disciplinary 
central co-ordination team to identify a patient’s pathway from hospital into a community based 
setting for onward care provision. A description of the patient pathways (and estimated percentage 
of those required pathways) can be found below. 

16. Discharge to Assess model – pathways: 

a. Pathway 0: 50% of people – simple discharge, no formal input from health or social care 
needed once home. 

b. Pathway 1: 45% of people – support to recover at home; able to return home with 
support from health and/or social care. 

c. Pathway 2: 4% of people – rehabilitation or short-term care in a 24-hour bed-based 
setting. 

d. Pathway 3: 1% of people – require ongoing 24-hour nursing care, often in a bedded 
setting. Long-term care is likely to be required for these individuals. 

Extract taken from Hospital Discharge Service: Policy and Operating Model (Published 21 August 
2020) 

21



Joint Commissioning of onward care provision for Scheme 1 

17. In order to be responsive and flexible in meeting onward care provision out of hospital for Scheme1, 
a range of commissioning and contracting arrangements were put in place. This included the block 
purchasing of nearly 140 care home beds in the Council area and over 1,000 hours extra homecare 
provision per week for the duration of the first wave of the pandemic period. 

Activity summary of patients discharged during Scheme1 

18. The table below illustrates the numbers of patients being discharged from hospital that were 
supported by the Council with their care needs on discharge from hospital or to avoid a hospital 
admission. 

1. A total of 889 patients were discharged from Hospital  

2. A total of 87 individuals were supported to avoid hospital admission. 

3. 72 patients were discharged from hospital on Pathway 0. 
a. 76% were supported with Domiciliary Care. 
b. 71% were known to ASC. 

An enhancement to their support was provided to 7% of patients 

4. 462 patients were discharged from hospital on Pathway 1. 
a. 92% were supported with domiciliary care and reablement. 
b. 16% were known to Adult Social Care. 
c. An enhancement to their support was provided to 14% of patients.  

5. 180 patients were discharged from hospital on Pathway 2 
a. 83% of patients were discharged into a Care Home/Block Bed. 
b. 38% were known to ASC and 36% required an enhancement to their current 

support package. 

6. 78 patients were discharged from hospital on Pathway 3 
a. 97% were discharged to a care home. 
b. 45% were known to ASC. 
c. An enhancement to their support was provided to 43% of patients 

7. 97 individuals were discharged from hospital, for whom we did not have a recorded 
Pathway  

a. 72% of patients were discharged into a Care Home. 
b. 22% were known to ASC. 
c. An enhancement to their support was provided to 19% of patients 

 

Patient experience of the new Hospital Discharge Service during Scheme 1 

19. In order to gain an understanding of patient experience of what it was like to be discharged from 
hospital during the first wave of the pandemic following the new operating model, Healthwatch, 
alongside colleagues from BCP Council undertook 21 telephone call interviews during July to Sept 
2020 with patients and their families/carers.  

20. The main themes from the phone interviews carried out were:  

a. The fast discharge process from hospital meant people didn’t have any choice about their 
ongoing care. 

b. There was limited information about what was happening, especially for family members. 

c. People who went into a care home were sometimes placed inappropriately for their needs. 

d. On the whole, people and their families understood that the situation because of Covid-19 
meant their choices were limited. 

21.  “I didn’t see that social services were involved in the discharge, but they have kept me informed 
where they could. I feel the hospitals could have taken a bit more time and care however, I 
understand that Covid had changed a lot of things.” 

22. “I was out very quickly and didn’t feel very prepared. Because of Covid it made everything worse and 
panicky. Decision did not seem thought through because they were afraid of Covid, not enough of 
support from above for staff.” 

22



23.  “Really couldn’t fault the care and consideration that has been shown from start to finish. Social 
services picked up the case very quickly. There hasn’t been a stage of the process where the social 
services hasn’t communicated.” 

24. The findings from the interviews closely mirror those found by Healthwatch England in their 
conversation with 590 patients experiences of leaving hospital, notably: 

a. 82% of respondents did not receive a follow-up visit and assessment at home and almost 
one in five of these reported an unmet care needs.  

b. Some people felt their discharge was rushed, with around one in five (19%) feeling 
unprepared to leave hospital. 

c. Over a third (35%) of people were not given a contact who they could get in touch with 
for further advice after discharge, despite this being part of the guidance.  

d. Overall patients and families were very positive about healthcare staff, praising their 
efforts during such a difficult time. 

e. Around a third (30%) of people faced an issue with delayed COVID-19 test results, 
potentially putting family and carers at risk, or in a care home, other residents and staff. 

25. Lessons learnt from the period have been used to inform the future model of Home First to develop 
a sustainable long term approach to the programme of work. 

 

Financial Summary of Hospital Discharge Service for Scheme 1 

26. The table below shows the total cost of care that BCP Council has claimed from the £1.3bn 
government funding for the period 19 March to end of November. 

27. People under this scheme are now being phased out on a first in first out basis returning to their 
normal funding arrangements whether it might be self funding, health funded or Council funded. This 
scheme closes on 31 March 2020. 

 

Hospital Discharge Scheme1 
19 March - 
November 

  £000 

Care homes 8,199 

Home care 3,946 

Community Equipment 588 

Staff - Care and Assessment 238 

    

Less BCP Council contribution to 
pooled budget (500) 

    

Total 12,471 

 

Lessons Learnt from the Hospital Discharge Requirements during Scheme 1 

28. In order for the hospital discharge service to be sustainable, the set up of the service needed to be 
reviewed. This included: 

a. Re-organising staff into new teams, these were staff from the hospital social work service, 
community teams and Brokerage service into two teams referred to as Single Point of 
Access and “One” Teams.   

b. Mapping and identifying gaps in services, including evaluating what current services are 

available in order to inform future strategic commissioning intentions.  

c. Ensuring there was better information available for patients and their families and carers, 
and that information is also available in accessible formats 

23



d. Ensuring the commissioning of services is undertaken in a co-ordinated way as a system 
to meet demand. 

e. Undertaking a review of therapy led services is needed to look at how Therapists can be 
utilised more efficiently to support people at home. 

f. Developing a data Intelligence dashboard for Home First detailing activity and demand 
within the system; but also consideration of one case management system for tracking 
Home First patients and activity to ensure one version of truth. 

g. Continuing to involve patients and stakeholders to understand their experience of the 
Home First Service. 

h. Continuing the work of Community Hubs and teams working with primary Care Networks 
to identify clinically vulnerable patients using data from population health management 
tools. 

The Home First approach and revised national policy/ operating model (Scheme2) 

29. A review of the hospital discharge service took place in June 2020 as it was recognised that to make 
the service sustainable, there needed to be a review of the model, including the infrastructure of 
services across Dorset for admission avoidance and supported hospital discharge. 

30. Subsequently the Dorset ‘Home First’ programme was established in July 2020, with a vision to 
implement an integrated Home First solution focussing on the enablement of people to achieve their 
health and social care outcomes in the community. Being flexible and dynamic with a rapid response 
to meet the changing needs of Dorset’s population with the ultimate aim of a person only receiving 
acute hospital care when needed, for the period that they need it, with a swift and supported 
discharge home. 

31. On 21st August 2020, the Department of Health and Social Care published a revised policy and 
operating model for hospital discharge. 

32. The key points set out: 

a. What a hospital discharge service operating model should look like. It replaced the 19th 
March 2020 Hospital Discharge Service Requirements. 

b. That the government has provided funding, via the NHS, to help cover the cost of post-
discharge recovery and support services, rehabilitation and reablement care for up to 6 
weeks following discharge from hospital. 

c. That the discharge to assess model will be fully implemented across England operating 
8am-8pm 7 days a week and from 1 September 2020, the government decided that social 
care needs assessments and NHS Continuing Healthcare (CHC) assessments of eligibility 
should recommence. 

33. In order to meet the new and mandated requirements, the Home First Programme focused rapidly 
on agreeing and delivering a new service model to meet the requirements of the revised policy and 
operating framework. Existing teams and services were utilised, working in a different and more 
integrated way. 

34. The purpose of the revised approach is to rapidly free acute hospital beds to create the capacity 
needed to manage the treatment of patients infected with Covid-19. The model moves much of the 
assessment, rehabilitation and care planning activity that has historically been undertaken in a 
hospital setting prior to a patient being discharged to a community setting. Patients are discharged 
when they no longer meet the criteria to reside in hospital, and consequently with a higher level of 
needs, to their home or an interim community hospital or care home. Following discharge, primary 
care, therapy services, community nursing and adult social care will provide a short-term recovery 
and assessment service before the patient is then transferred to long term care services.  

35. The guidance also set out that: 

a. All assessment for ongoing care will happen outside of Acute hospitals with a multi-agency 
single point of access (SPA) to co-ordinate discharges. Patients will be passed to the SPA 
and onwards out of hospital immediately that they are considered medically ready for 
discharge. 

24



b. Following discharge, up to 6 weeks of funded recovery care will take place with a focus on 
rehabilitation, reablement and multi-disciplinary planning for longer term care. 

c. Therapy and social care staff will be moved out of hospital settings into a multi-agency 
community team to manage the immediate post-discharge care and support. 

d. The expectation is that 95% of people being discharged will return directly home 

36. For the Dorset and BCP Council areas, a multi-agency Single Point of Access (SPA) has been 
established to rapidly match patients at the point of discharge to services. Complementing the SPA, 
a multi-agency “One Team” has been set up to provide up to six weeks of rehabilitation, recovery 
and assessment. This model again operates seven days per week and from 8.00am to 8.00pm. BCP 
Council Adult Social Care has contributed to these two teams by transferring staff from the hospital 
social work service, community teams and Brokerage service into the SPA and One Team. The 
extended operating hours have necessitated additional staffing costs which have been recoverable 
against the national £1.3 billion funding arrangement until August 2020, but this is not the case 
beyond August. 

Governance 

37. The Dorset Integrated Care System has established a Home First Programme Board and Delivery 
Group to implement both the Hospital Discharge Guidance requirements and a sustainable long-
term approach to ensuring that residents receive assessment, treatment and care whenever possible 
in their own homes. 

38. There is a Commissioning Working Group as part of the Home First Programme which is working to 
ensure that services are commissioned across health, social care and the voluntary sector to support 
the Home First approach in the short and longer term.   

Financial Summary of Hospital Discharge Service for Scheme2 

39. From 1st September, the Hospital Discharge Programme Scheme 2 was introduced, the funding 
covers cost of care only (staffing costs cannot be included) and for a much shorter period of time 
from the discharge date to the needs assessment date up to a maximum of 6 weeks. 

The estimated cost for BCP Council is in the region of £650,000 per month. Funding is only to be used 
for activity that is over and above that normally commissioned by CCGs and local authorities.  

Commissioning 

40. During October, additional hours of rapid response services were commissioned in order to support 
people at home on their immediate discharge from hospital.  BCP Council has also been working to 
increase the number of home care providers who are providing care at the Council hourly rates – 
particularly in the Bournemouth and Christchurch areas, where there has been insufficient supply to 
meet demand. 

Summary of financial implications 

41. The Government provided £1.3bn funding to the NHS to support the enhanced discharge 
arrangements to support the Hospital Discharge Service Policy, providing fully funded care for people 
discharged from hospital with additional care and support needs from 19 March 2020 to 31 August 
2020. The Council has contributed existing hospital discharge revenue funding alongside the NHS 
funding. This included relevant budgets in the Better Care Fund for services such as reablement.   

42. With the changes to the Hospital Discharge Service Policy (Scheme 2) coming into force on 1st 
September the Government has made available £588 million to support the provision of free care for 
up to six weeks after discharge. This policy runs until 31 March 2021. This funding supplements 
existing council and CCG budgets. HWB areas were asked to place the additional funding into a 
pooled fund governed by a section 75 agreement. 

43. The extended operating hours have necessitated additional staffing costs which have been 
recoverable against the national £1.3 billion funding arrangement until the end of August 2020. 
However this is not the case for the Scheme 2 funding arrangements with the Council and partner 
agencies absorbing these costs from September onwards.  

44. The Council is facing increasing ongoing costs related to care home placements for people rapidly 
discharged from hospital for whom a return home is not possible. 

25



45. In line with the government direction, BCP Council took on all commissioned care responsibilities for 
all hospital discharges since 19 March until 31st August 2020 including for self-funders, people with 
continuing health care eligible needs as well as people who would normally fall under the Council’s 
funding criteria. All care commissioned following a hospital discharge is reclaimable from the Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group (DCCG). Up to the end of November, BCP Council has claimed £12m 
from the DCCG for care home placements, home care, community equipment, social care 
assessment, brokerage and administration staff overtime.  

46. The arrangements for discharges from September until 31st March the funding covers cost of care 
only (staffing costs cannot be included) and for a much shorter period of time from the discharge 
date to the needs assessment date up to a maximum of 6 weeks. The estimated ongoing cost for 
BCP Council is in the region of £650,000 per month. 

Summary of legal implications 

47. The Hospital Discharge Policy and Operating Framework was implemented as part of the 
Coronavirus Act 2020 in order for the government to respond to the emergency situation caused by 
COVID-19 pandemic and manage its effects. The legislation contains temporary measures that either 
amend existing legislative provisions or introduce new statutory powers aimed at mitigating the 
impacts of the pandemic during the "emergency period".   

Summary of human resources implications 

48. In order to meet the requirements of the Hospital Discharge Service Operating model, staff have had 
to adapt to new ways of working, operating 7 days per week 8.00 am to 8.00pm including bank 
holidays working within multi-agency teams and settings. BCP Council Adult Social Care has 
contributed to these teams by transferring staff from the hospital social work service, community 
teams and Brokerage service. The Council are developing the Medium Term Financial Plan to ensure 
that the costs of 7 days per week working are included so that the Home First model can continue 
as is expected nationally. 

49. The teams have been equipped with the technology and Personal Protective Equipment necessary 
to work in a more flexible way with reduced use of office space and a greater reliance on working 
from home.  

Summary of sustainability impact 

50. The move to widespread home and remote working with the Adult Social Care Directorate has led to 
very significant reductions in travel and care mileage claims for most staff. 

Summary of public health implications 

51. The Home First model is predicated on being able to provide proactive reablement and 
rehabilitation services which enable people to optimise their functioning and independence.   

52. One key area for further review and strengthening is ensuring that the right level of re-ablement 
and rehabilitation services are available in the Home First programme and the Home First 
Commissioning group will lead on this review process.  

53. It will also be important to ensure that there is continued work to hear the voices and experiences 
of people who are using the Home First Service to ensure that all is being done to ensure people’s 
physical and mental health and well-being needs are being met.  

Summary of equality implications 

54. Vulnerable people and those with long term conditions, disability, ethnicity will be impacted. 
Prolonged stay in hospital will expose them to hospital related acquired infections and reduce 
mobility. Home first will have a positive impact on getting people home. The policy applies equally 
to all equality strands.  

Summary of risk assessment 

55. A risk is that people do not get access to therapy led interventions which enable their optimisation, 
functionality and independence. The Home First Commissioning Group will be undertaking a 
review of reablement and relevant intermediate care services in order to develop long-term 
commissioning plans to address this risk.  

26



56. While there is a national expectation that the Home First model will continue to be implemented 
nationally, the current funding arrangements for Scheme 2 will cease at the end of March 2021 so 
local partners will need to agree how the costs of the approach can be met in the future.  The 
necessity of enacting rapid and substantially changed responses to hospital discharge in to Wave 1 
and Wave 2 of the pandemic  has meant that more people have been placed in higher cost 
residential placements than in previous years.  This will have a financial impact on the Council in 
2021/22 and potentially beyond and work is being undertaken to ensure that this financial impact is 
accurately reflected in BCP Council’s Medium-Term Financial Plan.  

 

Hospital Discharge Service: Policy and Operating Model (Published 21 August 2020) 

Hospital Discharge Service Policy and Operating model 

 

Better Care Fund: Policy Statement 2020 to 2021 (Published 3 December 2021) 

Better Care Fund Policy Statement 

 

Leaving hospital during COVID-19- Healthwatch England (Published 27th October 2020) 

Healthwatch England Report 

 

Appendices  

Appendix 1: Healthwatch Dorset report 

Appendix 2: Better Care Fund Schemes, BCP Council Health and Wellbeing area 

  

27

file:///C:/Users/zzelaines/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9BVQM3UQ/Hospital%20Discharge%20Service%20Policy%20and%20Operating%20model
file:///C:/Users/zzelaines/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9BVQM3UQ/Better%20Care%20Fund%20Policy%20Statement
file:///C:/Users/zzelaines/AppData/Local/Microsoft/Windows/INetCache/Content.Outlook/9BVQM3UQ/Healthwatch%20England%20Report


 

          

Appendix 1 

 

 

Learning from people’s experience of leaving hospital during Covid-19 
 
Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the way people are discharged from hospital has changed.  We wanted 
to find out how the system is working and what the experience has been like for people who are leaving 
hospital and going into care. 
 
Together with BCP Council Adult Social Care team we supported the design of a short patient experience 
survey and Healthwatch Dorset offered to carry out phone interviews with people who gave their consent 
to take part.  
 
We carried out 21 phone call interviews, July to Sept, with people and their families/carers, who left 
hospital during Covid-19 and went on to receive care in their own homes or in a care home. The phone 
interviews were booked by the BCP Council Adult Social Care team, so people knew we were calling 
them. 
 
We’re also planning to carry out more phone interviews, in October, with people who left hospital and 
received ongoing health services, re-ablement/physio etc at home or continuing healthcare. 
 
The main themes from the phone interviews we’ve carried out so far are:  

 The fast discharge process from hospital meant people didn’t have any choice about their ongoing 
care. 

 There was limited information about what was happening, especially for family members. 

 People who went into a care home were sometimes placed inappropriately for their needs. 

 On the whole, people and their families understood that the situation because of Covid-19 meant 
their choices were limited. 

 

Here’s some quotes: 
 

“The care home was quite inadequate. When my grandmother was discharged, she was having issues in 
memory and the care home wasn’t set up to handle this. We felt that we were not being communicated 
with properly. She had a mini stroke and was sent back to hospital and we were not communicated with. 
She is now in a different care home.” 
 

“I didn’t see that social services were involved in the discharge, but they have kept me informed where 
they could. I feel the hospitals could have taken a bit more time and care however, I understand that 
Covid had changed a lot of things.” 
 

“I was out very quickly and didn’t feel very prepared. Because of Covid it made everything worse and 
panicky. Decision did not seem thought through because they were afraid of Covid, not enough of 
support from above for staff.” 
 

“I felt like I was dumped and without the proper equipment and proper precautions. Living alone with 
daughter. I have a care package and it was not what was agreed in hospital.” 
 

“Really couldn’t fault the care and consideration that has been shown from start to finish. Social services 
picked up the case very quickly. There hasn’t been a stage of the process where the social services 
hasn’t communicated.” 
 
 

  

28



Appendix 2 Better Care Fund Schemes, BCP Council Health and Wellbeing area 

BCP Council working in conjunction with local NHS providers and the wider care market invest BCF 

allocation under five operational schemes as detailed below: 

Scheme 1- Maintaining Independence 

Information, advice and early help is supported through joint commissioning of the digital online offer “My 

Life My Care” which is widely promoted and has been rolled out and supported by health and social care 

staff across the BCP Council area.  

Support to self funders is also funded through the BCF pooled budget. It has been acknowledged by acute 

providers and the council that support to those who fund their own care has a positive impact on reducing 

length of stay in an acute bed. 

We continue to commission a PAN Dorset Integrated Community Equipment Service through a pooled 

budget, with lead commissioning responsibility held by BCP Council.  

The use of the Disabled Facilities Grant provides adaptions within the home.  

Carers Services 

Priority has been to ensure Carers are receiving consistent services across the conurbation including: 

• Supporting the early identification of carers, including self-identification  

• Ensuring carers receive relevant and timely information and advice about their caring role 

• Developing the workforce to understand carers’ needs, improve identification of carers and value 

their contributions  

• Involving carers in local and individual care planning 

• Enabling carers to fulfil their educational and employment potential 

• Providing personalised support for carers and those receiving care  

• Supporting carers to remain safe and healthy  

• Delivering equality of services by commissioning carers services in a joined up way 

• Ensuring that carers rights are recognised at the same level as the cared for person. 

Early Supported Hospital Discharge  

We continue to work with acute hospitals in planning for safe discharge into community settings including: 

 Enabling provision of 7 day high quality integrated discharge services linking closely with acute 

hospitals for safe discharge into community settings.  

 

 Delivering reablement and rapid response services to support adults maximise their independence 

on discharge from hospital, including the use of interim care home placements 

Integrated health and social care locality teams 

The integrated health and care partnerships across the BCP Council area are continuing to provide and 

further develop quality services in line with the primary care networks. Significant investment is being 

directed in developing rapid response services in order to deploy rapid intervention, treatment and 

monitoring of patients that have an immediate and/or escalating need. 

Moving on From Hospital Living 

This relates to providing integrated personalised care for people with complex needs who moved on from 

long stay hospital accommodation.  

 

29



This page is intentionally left blank

30



HEALTH AND ADULT SOCIAL CARE 
OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 

 

Report subject  BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan 

Meeting date  18 January 2021 

Status  Public Report   

Executive summary  The National Suicide Prevention Strategy (SP) requires Councils to 
develop local SP plans.  
 
Across the whole of Dorset between 70 and 80 lives are lost per 
annum because of suicide and each death impacts people in 
families, workplaces and communities. 
 
BCP Council has developed a comprehensive and wide-reaching 

action plan based on the responses to a local consultation. This 

has been developed with Heads of Service, working together to see 

how they could contribute to the suicide prevention plan.  

The action plan provides information about the national and pan 
Dorset Strategic direction and then provides local narrative to set 
the scene for the BCP Council response.  
 
The table in the plan outlines the main objectives and deliverables, 
set out by each lead area with communication and public health 
support throughout the plan. Many of the themes cut across 
Portfolio holder responsibilities, Directorates and teams, so the 
delivery plan shows contributions to the overall aim of reducing 
suicides and their impact.   

Recommendations It is RECOMMENDED that:  

 1. Overview and Scrutiny Committee review the BCP 
Council Suicide Prevention Plan 2021-23  

2. Committee Members to form a short Task and Finish 
Group to work with officers to ensure that the final Plan 
is comprehensive and addresses key issues raised by 
the Committee in its review process. 

3. For Committee to receive a progress report on the 
Suicide Prevention Plan at an appropriate time during 
2022. 

Reason for To meet the requirements that the National Suicide Prevention 

31

Agenda Item 10



recommendations Strategy (SP), where Councils are required to develop local SP 
plans. 

  

32



Portfolio Holder(s):  Councillor Nicola Greene  
Covid Resilience, Schools and Skills 

Corporate Director  Jan Thurgood 
Corporate Director for Adult Social Care 

Report Authors Sophia Callaghan Assistant Director Public Health  
Jonathan O'Connell Head of Strategic Commissioning – Disabilities 
ASC-C 

Wards  Not applicable  

Classification  For Recommendation  
Title:  

1. Background  

The National Suicide Prevention Strategy (SP) requires Councils to develop 

local SP plans. Councils, Partners, Public Health Dorset and Dorset Clinical 

Commissioning Group have already established an overarching multi-agency 

Pan Dorset SPP, with associated Governance structures to support this 

national programme.  

1.2 Last year both Councils, Partners, Public Health Dorset and the Dorset 

Clinical Commissioning Group established a multi-agency Pan Dorset suicide 

prevention programme (SP) (Appendix 3) as part of the national SP 

programme. The programme has a shared vision that “no one will reach the 

point where they feel or believe that they have no other choice but to attempt 

suicide or to end their life by suicide”. The overriding ambition is to prevent 

death by suicide. 

1.3 The development of the strategy has been an evolving process including 

many partners and individuals who hope to support the ambition.  The 

strategy has a governance process that includes a steering group and a 

partnership group.  Both bring together a wide range of experience, skill and 

expertise. 

2.  Developing the Pan Dorset Strategy 

 

2.1 The Councils and partners led by Public Health and the Clinical 

Commissioning Group worked together to develop a strategy that has six key 

workstreams based on the national suicide prevention Strategy.  

 

33



2.2 The Pan Dorset themes for improving mental wellbeing and suicide 

prevention, which will support the local BCP plan are as follows: 

 Developing focused communication and media campaigns  

 Improve access to wider community mental wellbeing and suicide 

prevention skills and training including for GPs and primary care 

professionals 

 Establish local support from Community Partnership Groups led by VCSE 

organsiations 

 Establish local guidance from Suicide Prevention Champions1 and Lived 

Experience specialists  

 Improving bereavement support and access to local services  

 Improving data and intelligence through access to real time surveillance 

data  

 

2.3 The ambitions will be achieved by working as a Pan Dorset system to assess 

need and emerging local trends based on the newly established Real Time 

Surveillance Data. Through Partner collaboration the programme will improve 

access, disseminate advice, information and develop core skills to support the 

SP agenda.   

2.4  This will enable services to provide timely and responsive support for 

vulnerable people, while creating an environment and culture that means a 

supportive and compassionate approach to enable people to access the right 

support, to enable them to make positive choices in their life. 

2.5 The governance structure of the wider programme consists of a multi-agency 

steering group that reports to Local Authority Health Overview Scrutiny 

Committees, the Health and Wellbeing Boards and to the Mental Health 

Integrated Programme Board. 

3. Developing the BCP Council suicide Prevention Plan  

 

3.1 The following BCP Council plan applies the six key workstreams from the pan 

Dorset Strategy to the wide reach of BCP council. The hope is that suicide 

prevention is a golden thread running through the workstreams described in 

the table below.  It may not be immediately obvious how a workstream 

described is about suicide prevention but suicide prevention in its widest 

context is the thought behind each element described. 

                                                
1 The Suicide Prevention Champions are people who are involved in the partnership who have an 
overview nationally and locally who are able to speak about suicide prevention at any time and 
signpost people who enquire about particular issues.  These roles are currently being developed. 

34



 

3.2  The BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan, (Appendix 1) has been developed 

with Heads of Service working together to see how their areas of work could 

contribute to the plan. As part of those discussions’ consideration was given 

to COVID-19 and associated pressures. Agreement across all the services 

leads was that mental health and wellbeing is even more important with rising 

levels of common mental health conditions. 

 

3.3  The plan covers a strategic summary and a local overview for the BCP 

Council area and gives an update on suicide response teamwork and what 

has been achieved with the real time surveillance data project. The actions 

from each directorate have been outlined in the table within the plan, which 

highlight the main objectives and deliverables, set out by each lead area. 

Many of the themes cut across Portfolio holder responsibilities, Directorates 

and teams, so the delivery plan attempts to show contributions to the overall 

aim of reducing suicides and their impact.   

 

3.4  External actions mainly focus on supporting vulnerable groups into which BCP 

Council services reach, raising awareness, communications and engagement 

with communities.  

 

3.5  Internal actions are focused on increasing knowledge and skills around 

suicide prevention and spotting the signs, but there is also an important role 

for planning services in ensuring developments are taking appropriate and 

necessary measures to prevent means of suicide.  There are also several 

objectives relating to the provision of better support for people affected by 

suicide set out in the plan.  

 

35



4.  Summary of financial implications 

4.1  The plan is wide reaching, so will require a high degree of employee 

engagement to be effective. The wider pan-Dorset suicide prevention plan 

has NHS England funding, some of which will support delivery of elements of 

the BCP Council plan.  There is also an enhanced wellbeing offer being 

developed as a system approach with NHS England. This offer is in addition 

to the existing BCP Council staff wellbeing offer and will be accessible to any 

employees in health and social care teams requiring support.  

4.2  For BCP Council most project areas have been built into existing portfolios. 

The financial implications will be officer time and commitment to support plan 

delivery.   

5.  Summary of legal implications 

5.1  There are no legal implications, however the national strategy outlines that 

all council areas should have a suicide prevention strategy headed up by 

public health. The BCP Council plan is jointly led by Public Health and 

BCP Council Officers.  

6. Summary of human resources implications 

6.1  For BCP Council most project areas have been built into existing 

portfolios. The financial implications will be officer time and commitment to 

support plan delivery. There will be staff training and SP development 

commitment among staff teams and a wider engagement plan will be 

required to engage wider teams with the SP agenda.    

7. Summary of public health implications 

7.1  To set the context, between 2016-18 the rate of deaths by suicide in BCP 

area was higher than the average for England, (12.3 per 100,000 

compared to 9.6). The average number of deaths per annum by suicide 

between 2016-18 was 42. Approximately ¾ of all deaths by suicide were 

males. 77% of people who died by suicide across all Dorset were not 

involved with mental health services at the time of their death, (2106-17).  

The highest percentage of deaths occurred in the 45-59 age range for 

both men and women.  

7.2  Social isolation, long term health problems or disability, relationship or 

marital break-up, and admissions for self-harm are significantly higher than 

the England average across BCP. In addition, BCP has higher rates of 

severe mental illness, and higher alcohol related hospital admissions.  

36



7.3   The SP plan for BCP Council has the potential for a wide-reaching 

preventative population approach, to raise  awareness among the general 

population, provide easily accessible self-help information to keep well, 

and develop skills and understanding in 'spotting the signs' to signpost to 

relevant services to support people early; Befriending services as one 

example. In essence, working across BCP Council teams to improve skills, 

resources and knowledge of those resources to help people.   

7.4  The plan will improve access to services and responsiveness of support 

for people, which will ensure timely access to the right services to improve 

mental health and wellbeing outcomes. A collaborative approach across 

services and partners will bring many elements of support together in a 

more coordinated way, to make access for people easier to improve their 

wellbeing outcomes.   

7.5 Using real time surveillance data and intelligence will enable teams to 

identify changing need early and support people who may have in the past 

fallen through the net in terms of accessing help and will therefore receive 

the support they really need. For those identified at risk, further support 

will be provided, including wellbeing plans, as a personalised approach for 

people to access the right support.  

7.6  By working with partners and the Third Sector, the plan aims to improve 

access for all, especially vulnerable groups to help reduce health 

inequalities locally. By working with vulnerable communities, using a co-

production approach to programme development   

8.  Summary of equality implications 

8.1  An equality impact assessment has been undertaken to highlight equality 

implications which aim to be positive and supportive to all groups, 

(Appendix 2).     

8.2  Men are more likely to end their lives by suicide than women nationally 

and in the BCP area. There are varied ages groups presented. Data from 

2016-2018 identified the highest group was aged 45 - 59 years.  Real 

Time Surveillance data will confirm current trends in order to target 

resources.      

8.3  There are a high number of people who attempt suicide and a high 

number of women who repeatedly attempt suicide and by this increasing 

their risk of death by suicide or misadventure.  BCP Council will use data 

information to target vulnerable groups and their support. 

8.4  Nationally there are a number of other high-risk groups such as people 

transitioning or GPs and agricultural workers.  The real time surveillance 

37



data and intelligence will be able to confirm this for the BCP and Dorset 

areas once the degree of confidence has increased.  

9. Summary of risk assessment  

9.1  One overall risk could be lack of engagement by staff and or vulnerable 

groups. However, plans are formulating to work with wider community 

Partnerships and networks to engage local communities and staff teams. 

10. Appendices 

1 BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan 2021-2023 

2 SP Equality Impact Assessment 

3 Dorset Suicide Prevention Strategy and Implementation Plan   

11. Background papers  

1. Department of Health (2011) - Preventing suicide in England: A cross-government 
outcomes strategy to save lives EIA. 

2. ONS Suicides in England and Wales: 2019 registrations 

 

 

38

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/267020/Preventing_suicide_equalities_impact-1.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/267020/Preventing_suicide_equalities_impact-1.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/suicidesintheunitedkingdom/2019registrations


 

  

 

………………………………………………………………………………… 

 

 

 

 

 

BCP COUNCIL  
SUICIDE PREVENTION 

PLAN 2021-23 
 

Promoting Mental Wellbeing and Preventing 

Self -Harm 

Authors: Sophia Callaghan  

  Jonathan O'Connell   

Version: Four for circulation  

Date:  8 January 2021 

39



 

 

1 

1. Introduction 

1.1 The National Suicide Prevention Strategy (SP) requires Councils to develop local SP plans. Councils, 

Partners, Public Health Dorset and Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group have already established an 

overarching multi-agency Pan Dorset SPP, with associated Governance structures to support this 

national programme.  

 

1.2 BCP Council has developed a comprehensive and wide-reaching action plan based on the responses 

to a local consultation. This has been developed with Heads of Service, working together to see how 

they could contribute to the suicide prevention plan.  

 

1.3 The action plan gives an overview of national and pan Dorset strategic direction then hones it down to 

the BCP Council’s plan. The table in the plan outlines the main objectives and deliverables, set out by 

each lead area with communication and public health support throughout the plan. Many of the themes 

cut across Portfolio holder responsibilities, Directorates and teams, so the delivery plan shows 

contributions to the overall aim of reducing suicides and their impact.   

 

2. Strategic Context 

2.1 The pan-Dorset Suicide Prevention Plan (SPP) was produced by the Crisis Care Concordat group 

(2018) as a direct response to the National Suicide Prevention Strategy. Partner organisations across 

the system came together and signed up to the plans.  

 

2.2 Partners include statutory and non-statutory organisations, including both unitary councils, NHS 

providers, Dorset Clinical Commissioning Group (Dorset CCG), Dorset Police, and community and 

voluntary sector partners. 

 

2.3 The current pan Dorset suicide prevention plan has been refreshed (2020) and reflects the 

developments and changing knowledge about the local picture, since 2018. 

 

2.4 The six key workstreams in the Pan Dorset Plan are: 

 

 Developing a focused local media and communication campaign led by Bournemouth University 

(BU) and Public Health Dorset (PHD)   

 Improve access to wider community mental wellbeing and suicide prevention skills and training 

including GP and Primary Care awareness and skills training led by PHD  

 Community Partnership Group to support and advise themes led by Dorset Mind  

 Suicide Prevention Champions and Lived Experience peer specialists led by Dorset MH Forum 

 Improving bereavement support led by Dorset CCG  

 Improving data and intelligence including real time surveillance led by PHD 

 

2.5 There are also strong links between suicide prevention and mental health promotion. The Dorset 

Integrated Care System Prevention at Scale (PAS) programme includes mental health and young 

people and workforce wellbeing programmes, the overall key focus will be: 

 

a) Prevention beyond secondary services: place- based community prevention work    

40



 

 

2 

b) Reduction within associated mental health services via quality improvement 

3 Local Context 

3.1 BCP Council is committed to providing effective community leadership, and work within this suicide 
prevention plan will fully support delivery of objectives in our Corporate Strategy. In particular, the SP 
plan supports several deliverables within Connected Communities, Brighter Futures and the Fulfilled 
Lives, as shown in Figure 1.     

Figure 1. Links between deliverables in the Corporate Strategy and the Suicide Prevention Plan  

3.2 BCP Council has been involved in local work to reduce deaths by suicide. Based on this multiagency 

work, and local needs assessment, the following themes and risk groups have been identified as being 

important to address in the local plan. 

 

4 Nationally identified as at high risk of suicide 

 

4.1 Those identified as at higher risk of death by suicide nationally are: 

 

 Men 

 People who self-harm including younger people 

 Agricultural workers 

 General Practitioners 

 

41



 

 

3 

4.2 Across the BCP area it appears to be that men are most at risk.  More detail is required re 

demographic and background.  But high-level information suggests that men are more likely to 

end their lives by suicide in the BCP Council area. 

 

4.3 Setting the context for BCP; the local profile 

 

 

 

 

 Relationship breakdown 

42



 

 

4 

4.4 There are other vulnerable groups identified nationally, where improving mental health would need to 

be a focus. These groups include staff; perinatal mental health; social and economic vulnerability risk 

factors; veterans; people with a long-term condition; people with untreated depression; lesbian, gay, 

bisexual and trans communities; black, Asian and other ethnic minority groups; asylum seekers.  

 

4.5 The communication and media planning programmes will promote mental wellbeing among these key 

groups, to raise awareness and reduce the stigma of talking about and understanding the importance of 

mental health.  

 

4.6 BCP Council would also support the following approach in any programme development: 

 

• Digital and innovative opportunities  

• A Dorset-wide leadership and partnership approach with principles of co-production 

5 Wider objectives for suicide prevention 

5.1 The NHS Long Term Plan and Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services transformation 

programmes are also working to improve suicide prevention Pan Dorset and will be responsible for 

developing and monitoring the following programmes:   

 

 Expanding access to children’s mental health services for 0-25-year old's 

 Improving mental health crisis care with a 24/7 new model of care  

 Specialist perinatal services to women who are in need post the birth of their baby 

 Specialist community teams to help support children and young people with autism and their families 

 Integrated models of primary and community mental health care for adults with severe mental 

illnesses and support individuals who self-harm 

 Post-crisis and bereavement support  

 Quality improvement programme for Inpatient Zero Suicide ambition 

6 Forward Planning and Governance 

6.1 The system-wide collaboration to progress the Pan-Dorset suicide prevention work has developed a 

planning and governance structure. The wider Partnership Group meets quarterly to network, support 

development and advise on planning; the multiagency SPP Steering Group takes forward the statutory 

organisational requirements and monitors planning and progress. This group is responsible for updating 

plans each year. 

 

6.1 BCP Council SP Plan leads will progress locally agreed actions for BCP and report via the Health and 

Wellbeing Board and to the ICPCS Portfolio Board via the Suicide Prevention Steering Group. The 

voice of those who have experienced suicide and/or self-harm are extremely important contributors to 

the SPP work and influence both the business and the partnership meetings. 

 

 

43



 

 

5 

7 BCP Suicide Prevention Plan Consultation 

7.1 In developing the BCP Council suicide Prevention plan, conversations were started with colleagues 

across BCP Council, prompted by evidence and key questions arising from the Samaritans and 

University of Exeter Review of suicide prevention plans. Directors and Heads of Service worked with 

their teams to consider how they could contribute to preventing suicide and self-harm, based on the key 

actions from the national suicide prevention strategy. 

8 Measuring Success and Longer-term Outcomes  

8.1 The overall aim of the BCP Suicide Prevention Plan is to reduce both attempted and completed 

suicides and reduce self-harm among children and young people. To understand how to be more 

effective in achieving these aims for BCP, it is important to better understand the groups identified at 

higher risk based on the real time surveillance data and intelligence.  

8.2 This will improve the approach and ensure the right support to manage the associated risk factors, a 

summary of which is highlighted in the local profile in section 4. The co-produced plan will agree key 

success measures and will identify shorter term outputs which will measure work towards the longer-

term success. An example of measures is outlined in the table below.  

Success Measures 

1.  Working with identified community assets and third sector to reduce loneliness  
and isolation among vulnerable groups  

2.  To support more people to self-care and manage long term health problems  

3.  To increase awareness, skills and support for those working with vulnerable  
people to spot the signs in order to reduce hospital admissions for self-harm  

4.  To ensure appropriate and timely access to support for very vulnerable  
groups with mental health needs  

5.  To increase awareness, skills and support to spot the signs in order to reduce  
alcohol specific hospital admissions  

 

9  Suicide Response Team (SRT) Update  

9.1 The SRT was set up in September 2019 and the group has continued to meet during COVID. The 

group has been working with transport services and Dorset Police and the British Transport Police 

throughout the lockdown period.  

 

9.2 The Suicide response has been to support and equip staff to help on site where it appears that 

someone is in distress and contemplating ending their lives. This means that staff can now speak to 

vulnerable people on site. 

 

44



 

 

6 

9.3 Initially bereavement support was recognised as a gap in Dorset, so partners have been working 

together during COVID to create a responsive and coordinated single 'Open-door offer', which can 

signpost people to the right type of support as soon as they access the service. The aim is to provide 

effective support in order to further reduce the risk of suicide for those vulnerable people working 

through their bereavement. Bereavement support has been running throughout the COVID period and 

the new approach with the 'open-door offer' was launched in August. 

 

9.4 In terms of skills development the SRT reviewed available suicide prevention training and recommend 

the NHS England & Public Health England (PHE) online training, which is open to anyone and Dorset 

Police have signed up as a Partner to roll out the training for staff as one example.  

 

9.5 A coordinated communication plan has been developed in a range of mediums with a staged 

messaging approach, which includes outdoor communication, for example on buses. There has been 

education work for young people with key messages on 'self-help not self-harm'.  

 

10.  Real Time Surveillance (RTS) Update   

10.1 The national expectation is that most areas around the country are to have real time surveillance for 

suspected suicides. The RTS team have worked with Partners including Dorset Police and the 

Coroner's office to improve RTS, and now daily and fortnightly information is available to the team.  

 

10.2 RTS data availability will enable BCP council to assess if more suicides are starting to happen and can 

give an early warning for responsive action to meet local need.  

 

10.3 RTS team have set up a suicide surveillance group, which reviews suspected and attempts data with 

partners and collects information such as concerns for welfare, self-harm and serious suicide attempts. 

Links have also been made with the North West Ambulance service to share good practice and see 

where collaboration can support local work.  

 

10.4 A Suicide Attempt Interruption Group (SIG) has been set up. The role of the group is to review 

information about people who emerge not known to the services and be responsive in assessing what 

support they have had and what they need.     

   

11.   Developing the Action Plan for BCP Council 
 
11.1 The BCP SP plan applies the six key workstreams identified in the pan Dorset plan to the wide reach of 

BCP council. The hope is that suicide prevention is a golden thread running through the workstreams 

described below.  It may not be immediately obvious how a workstream described below is about 

suicide prevention but suicide prevention in its widest context is the thought behind each element 

described.  For example, planting Gorse on cliff tops may at first sight be aesthetically pleasing and add 

to the design features but it will also make it much more difficult for anyone to get to the edge of a cliff if 

they happen to be suicidal.  Suicide prevention could be a golden thread, in the same way that 

safeguarding is. 

 

45



 

 

7 

11.2 BCP SP Plan has been developed in response to the consultation with staff and service leads. It has 

been developed with Heads of Service, working together to see how they could contribute to the suicide 

prevention plan.  

 

11.3 The table below outlines the main objectives and deliverables, set out by lead area. Many of the 

themes cut across Portfolio holder responsibilities, Directorates and teams, so the delivery plan 

attempts to show contributions to the overall aim of reducing suicides and their impact.   

 

11.4 External actions mainly focus on supporting vulnerable groups into which BCP Council services reach, 

raising awareness, communications and engagement with communities. Internal actions are focused on 

increasing knowledge and skills around suicide prevention, but there is also an important role for 

planning services in ensuring developments are taking appropriate and necessary measures to prevent 

means of suicide.  There are also several objectives relating to the provision of better support for 

people affected by suicide set out in the plan. 

46



1 
 

Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council Suicide Prevention Plan  

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

Councillors 

To raise awareness about suicide 
prevention planning, skills development 
and resources among BCP Councillors. 

Cllr Greene  March 2021 
with annual 
refresh  

share overview of plans  
share mental wellbeing offer and 
Bereavement offer available now  

To ensure Councillors have access to the 
right resources to signpost their residents 
for support. 

Cllr Greene March-June 21   resources in place and resident 
signposting detail's shared with 
members  

To ensure Councillors have access to 
resources to enable them to use their own 
communication channels to raise 
awareness. 

Cllr Greene March 2021  Members have communication 
channels in place  

Children & Young 
People 

To develop, sign-off and embed the Pan-
Dorset Post Suicide Intervention Protocol 
for children and young people. 

Sue Jones, Pan-
Dorset 
Safeguarding 
Children 
Partnership 

Signed off and 
published by 
1st December 
2020   

Integrated plan in place. 
Protocols established. 
Young people identified as 
vulnerable are safeguarded.   
Reduction in Children and young 
people who attempt suicide 
following the traumatic death of a 
peer. 

Implementation of Trauma Recovery 
Model: Dorset Combined Youth Offending 
Service to train all staff in trauma-informed 
practice and implement the Trauma 
Recovery Model with psychologist-led 
formulations to guide work with young 
people recovering from past trauma’. 
 

David Webb, 
Dorset 
Combined Youth 
Offending 
Service 

September 
2021 with 
annual refresh 

Percentage staff trained. 
Positive outcomes in trauma 
recovery. 

To support implementation and further 
development of the Children and Young 
People Emotional Health and Wellbeing 
Strategy. Recognise local examples of 
good practice for getting advice & getting 
help. 

Elaine Hurll, 
NHS Dorset 
CCG working 
with the Council 

March 2021 
and ongoing 

Strategic objectives/planned 
outcomes delivered. 
Recognised examples of good 
practice as evidence for impact that 
can be scaled. 

ASC staff are confident in knowing what 
services are available to sign post people 
and their families to for support if there is 
concern about suicide or post suicide. 

David Vitty By June 2021 Increased staff awareness, 
including through the newly 
established Adult Social Care 
Contact Centre. 

47



 

 

2 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

To provide emotional support to all Carers 
accessing the Carers Resource 
Information and Support Partnership 
(CRISP). 

 
 
 
 
 
Zena Dighton 
 
 
 
 
 

Available now Number of people receiving 
support. 

To provide additional support to older 
male carers at risk of suicide following 
bereavement through CRISP and the 
Good Life Project.   

Available now Number of contacts with bereaved 
male carers.   
 

To reduce social isolation and loneliness 
through the Good Life Project, thus reduce 
risk of suicide across all client groups. 
 

Complete Increased number of people 
engaged in community interaction 
(COVID safe). 

Substance misuse services proactively 
risk assess people and make appropriate 
referrals to suitable services/arrange 
MARM1.  Karen Wood In place 

People with substance misuse 
receive appropriate support in 
crisis. 

To ensure Drug & Alcohol Services are 
now also present at the High Intensity 
Suicide Prevention Meeting. 

Providers have clear policies in 
place relating to SP. 

ASC staff within the integrated CMHT 
continually risk assess people at risk and 
ensure the appropriate support is provided 
working with health colleagues. 

Jen Collis 
Heavens  

Available now TBA with Dorset Healthcare 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Media & 
Communications 
 

To enhance at a local level the 
overarching system wide communication 
strategy for mental wellbeing and SP  
 
Four areas: 

 support for people experiencing 
financial difficulties  

 young people and parents 
(have conversations and 
listening skills)  

Julie Munson, 
BCP 
Kirsty Hillier, 
ICS/PHD 
 

November 
2020 - 
January 2021 
ongoing social 
media  
January - April 
2021 

Increased mental health and 
suicide prevention communication 
plans in place and delivered. 
 
Increased awareness and metrics 
showing penetration of targeted 
media information. 
 
Numbers taking up offer (finance 
and together we can programme). 
 

                                        
1 MARM = Multi-Agency Risk Meeting 

48



 

 

3 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 people who are socially 
isolated   

 bereavement support offer  

 women who have experienced 
domestic abuse  

Numbers of young people using 
chat health and KOOTH. 
Numbers accessing the open-door 
offer. 

To ensure both generic and targeted 
comms plans are coordinated with the 
wider community suicide prevention and 
mental health skills and training 
development offer. 

 
By February 
2021 

Feedback on increase skills, 
knowledge and awareness 
developed with key support groups. 
  

Human Resources 
Learning and 
Development Team 

To develop a key stakeholder’s workshop 
to roll out sustainable Mental Health First 
Aid training across BCP Council. 

Melanie 
Jardine/Sophie 
Rowson 
 

MHFA 
instructors in 
place  
expand group 
by June 2021  

Increased percentage of instructors 
trained aware. 
Percentage people trained in 
MHFA skills. 

To ensure that those trained in MHFA are 
supported in their roles and receive up to 
date information and resources. 

On-going and 
run bi-monthly 
virtual 
networks 

Increase access to resources. 
Increased support for MH First 
Aiders, and network model 
established. 

Implement Health & Wellbeing plan for 
BCP Council, as part of people strategy, 
which will support mental health and 
wellbeing for staff. 

Mel Jardine 
 
 
 

June 2021 Decreased sickness absence. 
Increased staff engagement via 
staff survey. 

To ensure best practice as an organisation 
in offering support to staff at greater risk of 
mental/emotional health problems.  E.g. 
when managing staff performance; going 
through significant organisational 
changes; or linked to significant life 
changes (illness, bereavement, 
relationship breakdown).  

On-going but 
refresh with 
new enhanced 
wellbeing offer 
January - 
March 2021 

Increased wellbeing input to the 
appraisal process. 
Decreased sickness. 
Increased awareness and access 
to staff support. 
Increased staff engagement via 
survey results. 

 
 
 
 

Continue to lead Suicide Response Team 
(SRT) until step down agreed by SRT. 

Vicki Fearne 
Nicky Cleave 

In place  Step down agreed. 
Future processes in place  

To coordinate and Chair Suicide 
Prevention Steering Group. 

Sophia 
Callaghan 
Elaine Hurll 

In place  Coordinated steering group in 
place with annual plan and 
monitoring systems in place. 

49



 

 

4 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Public Health  
 
 
 
 
 

Restarted 
September 
2020  

 

Lead the identified work streams for wider 
skills development. 

Sam Crowe 
Sophia 
Callaghan 
 

January 2021 Increased access to skills, 
information and support for key 
vulnerable groups. 
Numbers of skills development 
delivered  

Incorporating mental health professional 
development requirements in service 
specifications as services are 
commissioned.  

 March 2021 
and as 
services are 
reprocured   

Percentage of CPD plans in place. 
Changes identified in specifications 
for new contracts. 

To ensure focus on areas that include 
groups at higher risk of suicide or self-
harm e.g. people identified through 
safeguarding, people relapsing from 
making behavioural changes, clients of 
substance misuse services.  

June 2021 Percentage of contracts with 
identified mental health and suicide 
prevention focus. 
 
Numbers of people with LTC 
accessing LWD coaching and 
behaviour change support  

Supporting health and mental wellbeing of 
staff through the People Strategy related 
programme developments. 

December 
2020 - March 
2021 

Number of programmes in place. 
Decreased sickness absence. 
Increased awareness and 
engagement via survey results. 

To ensure Mental Health First Aid (MHFA) 
skills development and training 
opportunities are available for BCP 
managers and staff. 

In place and to 
be refreshed 
annually  

Percentage trained as MHFA staff. 

To support development of increased 
awareness of resources available 
including promotion of counselling, 
occupational health services. 

In place and to 
be refreshed 
annually  

Numbers accessing counselling 
and occupational health services. 

To support development of an induction 
and new starter pack which will include 
mental wellbeing support and resources  

January - 
March 2021 

Starter pack designed and 
available and the numbers 
downloaded. 

50



 

 

5 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

To support development and availability of 
information to support staff bereaved by 
suicide including details of 
individuals/organisations that can support 
them. 

Sophia 
Callaghan/Elaine 
Hurll 
 

Launch 
August 2020 
 
Evaluate and 
Develop from 
July 2021 

Co-ordinated open door offers in 
place. 
Increased availability of resource 
and support for staff. 
Percentage of staff accessing 
services.  
Mapped support details completed. 

Promoting the children's and young people 
(CYP) access to digital self-help services, 
e.g. Chat health, KOOTH, NHS quality 
assurance apps.  

PHD Comms 

Completed 
Ongoing 
monitoring of 
access to 
meet targets 
in contract KPI 

Digital offer for CYP in place. 
The number of CYP accessing the 
offer. 

Republicizing local CYP resources on self-
help, not self-harm. 

Completed 
Summer 2020 
in advance of 
exam season 

Increased access to resource via 
school feedback (contractual). 

 
Economic 
Development 

To coordinate and engage businesses 
with the suicide and self-harm prevention 
toolkit for businesses. 

Adrian Trevett 

in place  Increase awareness and access to 
resources across BCP business 
sector 

To ensure suicide and self-harm 

prevention toolkit for businesses is 

circulated and discussed via the following 

channels: Dorset Engineering and 

Manufacturing Cluster 

www.dorsetemc.com; 

BCP business newsletter (reach ~6000 
businesses); BCP Council business pages 
social media. COS has sent toolkit to AT.  
 
 
 

Jan 2020 
annual update  

Toolkit Circulation complete. 
Toolkit sent to DEMC and to other 
businesses in the newsletter. 
 
Annual update complete  
Increased feedback via 
communication channels with BCP. 
 
Increased feedback via one off 
survey to businesses via SP 
Steering Group   

To develop a plan for suicide and self-
harm prevention to be addressed through 

 
Adrian Hale 

March 2022 Task group set up  
Plans in place. 

51

http://www.dorsetemc.com/


 

 

6 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

Health theme of Smart Places 
programme. 

Number of projects developed 
relevant to mental health and 
suicide prevention. 
 

To work in partnership with SP Steering 
Group to develop guidance for developers 
engaged in regeneration programmes for 
BCP and to encourage application where 
possible 

Chris Shephard 
Sarah 
Longthorpe 

March 2022  Guidance developed and shared  
Engagement with developers 
established, Increased knowledge 
and awareness. 
evidence of measures put into 
place. 
 

Communities 
Development 

    

To set up and develop a Community Task 

Group as part of Suicide Response 

planning. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Cat McMillan 
 
 

In place Task group and action plan in 
place. 
SR actions delivered  

To develop ASIST training (2 days) for 
professionals. 

Q4 20/21 FIN 
year 

Increased training offered. 
Increased professionals trained. 
Evidence of impact   

To deliver Samaritans training in the 
community; community wellbeing events. 

When COVID 
restrictions 
allow 

Increased community skills. 

To ensure bereavement support 
partnership programmes. 
 

Increased access to bereavement 
support   

To promote Small Talk Saves Lives. In place Access Small Talk Saves Lives. 
Improved awareness and 
knowledge  

To raise awareness of programmes with 
Friends of Railways groups. 

Q4 20/21 FIN 
year 

Increased communication of 
programmes for mental health and 
suicide prevention.  

To work with media and communications 
teams to raise awareness of mental health 
with key vulnerable groups. 
 

Ongoing Increased awareness with key 
groups through feedback. 

Planning 
Ensure that the BCP Council Local Plan 
incorporates policy for the inclusion of 

 
 

 Numbers of reducing the means to 
access measures in place. 

52



 

 

7 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

suitably designed suicide prevention 
measures in designs for all new public 
buildings, multi-story car parks, bridges 
and other infrastructure projects. 

 
 
Nick Perrins 
Mark Axford 
Laura Bright 
 

Any necessary suicide prevention 
measures for new buildings, multi-storey 
car parks, bridges and infrastructure 
projects and are incorporated into 
approved planning drawings. 

 Number of successful planning 
consent conditions which have 
suicide prevention measures in 
place. 

Housing 
 

To review the current tenancy support 
available to vulnerable individuals in 
housing associations. 

Tracey Kybert, 
Housing 
Manager, 
Integrated 
Health & Social 
Care 

January - 
March 2021 

Registered Provider Tenancy 
Support Workshop held in 
November 2019 for all Registered 
Providers.  
Tenancy Support to be reviewed on 
an annual basis through the 
Registered Provider network. 

Housing and ASC Commissioning to 
review Welfare Benefits Advice Services 
at St Ann’s Hospital and in the community 
to deliver both preventative and crisis 
support in the future. 

By June 2021 Review complete and resources in 
place. 

To ensure new housing related support 
contract specifications include a 
requirement for suicide awareness training 
for frontline staff. 

Programme of 
re-
commissioning 
between now 
and end of 
2022 

Number of frontline staff trained. 
Number of community staff trained. 
Monitored through performance 
indicators. 

 
 
Housing 

To roll out suicide prevention training to all 
frontline Housing staff and liaise with 
Community Development lead. 

September 
2021 with 
annual refresh 

Increased staff use via staff 
appraisal feedback. 

To raise awareness and engage with staff 
teams about Help is at Hand resources 
http://supportaftersuicide.org.uk/support-
guides/help-is-at-hand/.  

March 2021 Increased awareness and access 
to resources. 

To ensure support for those who are 
bereaved and grieving. 

Offer 
developed 

Needs identified. 

53



 

 

8 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

Parks and 
bereavement 
services 

 
To ensure families who have no funeral 
arrangements in place have appropriate 
support. 

Andy McDonald, 

Head of Parks & 

Bereavement 

Services 

September 
2020 
roll out 
support 
January - 
March 2021 

Offer developed and access to 
support for families in place. 

Ensuring information and support is 
readily available to those bereaved by 
suicide. 

January - 
March 2021 

Numbers accessing support, 
information and resources. 

The Council to work with funeral directors 
across BCP to map bereavement and 
support services and ensuring that the 
information is readily available to those 
bereaved by suicide.  
Promotion of Help is At Hand 
http://supportaftersuicide.org.uk/support-
guides/help-is-at-hand/. 

Ongoing but 
will link to the 
new open 
door offer as 
well  

Service mapping complete. 

Armed Forces 

BCP Council to continue commitment 
through the Armed Forces Covenant to 
ensure that no member of the Armed 
Forces Community is disadvantaged as a 
result of their service.  
 
BCP Council's role is to maintain strong 
referral links and signposting to this 
specialist support. 
 

Graeme Smith 

Policy and 

Performance 

Officer 

Insight, Policy 

and 

Performance 

 
in place  

To continue to ensure referral links 
with the specialist support available 
for the Armed Forces Community 
locally, led by the award-winning 
Dorset Healthcare Armed Forces 
Community Mental Health and 
Wellbeing Team and a wide range 
of third sector providers.  
 

Suicide Response 

To advise appropriate Heads of 
Service/officers of any relevant actions 
from the Suicide Response Team. 

Vicki Fearne 

Nicky Cleave 

Ongoing  BCP Suicide response action plan 
in place. 

To embed the Pan-Dorset suicide 
response protocol. 

A response is 
in place 

Protocol and response plan in 
place. 

To set up and establish a surveillance 
group. 

In place  Monitor and review at surveillance 
meetings. 

To set up real time surveillance for 
suspected suicides. 

May 2020 Real time surveillance in place. 

54

http://supportaftersuicide.org.uk/support-guides/help-is-at-hand/
http://supportaftersuicide.org.uk/support-guides/help-is-at-hand/


 

 

9 
 

Lead Area Objective Lead By when Shorter Term Output 
Measures  

To set up a suicide surveillance group for 
suspected suicides and to identify 
clusters. 

In place Monitor rise in numbers and report 
to the multiagency suicide 
prevention steering group. 

To ensure rapid response to future 
indications of increased suicide frequency 

In place  Future rapid response protocol and 
process agreed. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

55



T
his page is intentionally left blank

56



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

1                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Executive Summary and Conclusions 

Once the Equality Impact Assessment Template has been completed, please summarise the key findings here. Please send a 
copy of your final document to the Policy and Performance Team. 

 
The reason for and purpose of this strategy is to reduce the number of deaths by suicide across the BCP area.  The people who 
will benefit from this strategy are those who might contemplate and plan death by suicide or who might attempt to harm 
themselves. 
 
In developing the strategy and EQIA there has been a reliance on ONS data which is regarded as the baseline.  ONS is national 
data that presents information nationally, regionally and about local areas.   
 
The ONS information is the baseline that is delayed.  The current ONS information only covers period from 2016 to end of 2019. 
The development of Real Time Surveillance across Dorset will provide local “up to the day” information about deaths by suicide 
and attempted suicides.  This will enable comparison between the ONS data and the Dorset wide RTS data.  The RTS 
developments are described in more detail later in the EQIA. 
 
National ONS information 
 
In 2019, there were 5,691 suicides registered in England and Wales, an age-standardised rate of 11.0 deaths per 100,000 
population and consistent with the rate in 2018. This has an increased since 2008-10, when the last national strategy was 
developed, (7.9 per 100,000), but remain lower than rates throughout the 1980’s and 1990’s. 
 
Between 2016-18 the rate of deaths by suicide in BCP area was higher than the average for England, (12.3 per 100,000 
compared to 9.6). The average number of deaths by suicide between 2016-18 was 42. Approximately ¾ of all deaths by suicide 
were males. 77% of people who died by suicide across all Dorset were not involved with mental health services at the time of 
their death, (2106-17).  The highest percentage of deaths occurred in the 45-59 age range for both men and women. 
 
Emerging Local Date Intelligence 
 
In introducing Real Time Surveillance (RTS), there will be a more targeted approach over the length of the BCP Council’s plan 
and beyond. Services will be able to respond to at risk individuals and groups in a specific and tailored way.   
 

57

mailto:performance@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

2                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

RTS is up to the day information about any death by suicide as confirmed by the Coroner’s office. The development of RTS has 
been through a partnership between Public Health Dorset, Dorset Police and the Coroner’s Office.  Using RTS there is also data 
being collected about people who attempt suicide and people who repeatedly attempt suicide. 
 
Already in response to the information about people who repeatedly attempt suicide a group has been set up to look at the 
individuals who are most at risk. This group has information about people who come to the attention of services e.g. Dorset 
Police twice or more in a month.  The intention of the group is to facilitate personalised intervention with the specific aim of 
preventing the loss of life.  The benefit of using RTS is that interventions can be offered sooner to prevent the escalation of crisis 
situations.   
 
Having access to up to the day information will provide the driver for particular responses through the workstreams of the strategy 
for example work with men through the VCSE partnership or individual work through services with people who repeatedly attempt 
to harm themselves. 
 
The introduction of the BCP Suicide Prevention Plan will have a positive impact on vulnerable groups. There are no negative 
impacts/unknown impacts identified.   
 

 
 

Part 1 - The Project 

Policy/Service 
under 
development/revie
w: 

BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan 

Service Units: 
Public Health Dorset and Adult Social Care Commissioning 

Service Leads: 
Sophia Callaghan, Public Health Dorset, Jonathan O’Connell – ASC-C and Elaine Hurll- Dorset NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group 

Equality Impact 
Assessment 
Team: 

 
Sophia Callaghan, Public Health Dorset, Jonathan O’Connell – ASC-C and Elaine Hurll- Dorset NHS 
Clinical Commissioning Group 
 

58



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

3                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 1 - The Project 

Date assessment 
started: 

 
8 December 2020 

Date assessment 
completed: 

 
Remains in draft at this stage in case further amendments made before preceding to Cabinet.  

What are the 
aims/objectives of 
the policy/service? 

Every life lost through suicide represents someone’s child, partner, friend or colleague. The effect on 
family, friends, colleagues and communities can be devastating. This plan presents actions that 
Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP Council) has committed to in working to improve 
mental wellbeing, prevent suicide and self-harm as part of our health and care system.   

 

What outcomes will 
be achieved with 
the new or changed 
policy/service? 

BCP Council is committed to providing effective community leadership, and work within this suicide 
prevention plan will fully support delivery of objectives in our Corporate Strategy. In particular, the SP plan 
supports several deliverables within Connected Communities, Brighter Futures and the Fulfilled Lives. The 
plan has been developed to reduce the number of deaths by suicide in in the BCP area. 
 

Are there any 
associated 
services, policies or 
procedures? 
  

Yes, there is a Pan Dorset Suicide Prevention Plan. The National Suicide Prevention Strategy, was 
published in 2012. The link to the strategy is below. 
 

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/
Preventing-Suicide-.pdf 
 

Please list the main 
people, or groups, 
that this 
policy/service is 
designed to benefit, 
and any other 
stakeholders 
involved: 

This plan is designed with the purpose of preventing death by suicide.  Suicide is preventable.  Suicides 
affect people from all walks of life and demographics and as such this plan is designed to affect anyone 
who could be considering ending their life by suicide. 
 
There are some groups of people who may be more at risk than others.  There is already baseline ONS 
information to highlight those who appear to be more at risk.  Local information from RTS is growing and 
developing.  By April/May 2021 the data should be used to provide the local picture in relation to death by 

59

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide-.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide-.pdf
https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/430720/Preventing-Suicide-.pdf


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

4                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 1 - The Project 

suicide and attempted suicides.  The reliable data will enable the strategy and plan to develop and will 
support targeted work where there appears to be higher risks.   
 
At the moment with nine months of real time information men are at the highest risk of ending their lives by 
suicide in the BCP area.  At present the data is not nuanced enough to pick up whether the men who have 
died are in other protected characteristics groups. Over time though, it will be possible to develop a deeper 
understanding of the demographics. 
 

With consideration 
for their clients, 
please list any other 
organisations, 
statutory, voluntary 
or community that 
the 
policy/service/proce
ss will affect: 

The SP prevention plan is particularly directed at anyone who is considering ending their life by suicide.  In 
the broadest terms the plan aims to improve mental wellbeing of people who live in the BCP area. 
 
The local strategy and plans have been in development since 2018. The current SP Steering Group 
includes representatives from 24 different organisations, (please see Appendix 1). The wider circulation list 
reaches 126 individuals. 
 
The strategy and plans could impact anyone who might be considering suicide as an options and as stated 
this could be anyone from any part of the community.  

 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Please list and/or link to below any recent & relevant consultation & engagement that can be used to demonstrate a clear 
understanding of those with a legitimate interest in the policy/service/process and the relevant findings: 
 
The local strategy and plans have been in development since 2018. The current SP Steering Group includes representatives 
from 24 different organisations, (please see Appendix 1). The wider circulation list reaches 126 individuals.    
 

                                         
1 This could include: service monitoring reports, research, customer satisfaction surveys & feedback, workforce monitoring, staff surveys, opinions and 
information from trade unions, previous completed EIAs (including those of other organisations) feedback from focus groups & individuals or organisations 
representing the interests of key target groups or similar.  
 

60



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

5                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

Summary of Project:   
 
Every life lost through suicide represents someone’s child, partner, friend or colleague. The effect on family, friends, colleagues 
and communities can be devastating. This plan presents actions that Bournemouth, Christchurch and Poole Council (BCP 
Council) has committed to in working to improve mental wellbeing, prevent suicide and self-harm as part of our health and care 
system.  The plan has been developed to reduce the number of deaths by suicide in in the BCP area. 
 
BCP Council is committed to providing effective community leadership, and work within this suicide prevention plan will fully 
support delivery of objectives in our Corporate Strategy. In particular, the SP plan supports several deliverables within Connected 
Communities, Brighter Futures and the Fulfilled Lives. 
 
Themes 
 
There are a number of key themes emerging from the work of the suicide prevention partnership and in the Dorset wide strategy 
there are six workstreams linked to the national suicide prevention strategy. 
 
• Developing a focused local media and communication campaign led by Bournemouth University (BU) and Public Health 

Dorset (PHD)   
• Improve access to wider community mental wellbeing and suicide prevention skills and training development led by PHD 

including GP and Primary Care awareness and skills training led by NHS partners (Our Dorset Workforce development 
leads)  

• Community Partnership Group to support and advise themes led by Dorset Mind  
• Suicide Prevention Champions and Lived Experience peer specialists led by Dorset MH Forum 
• Improving bereavement support led by Dorset CCG  
• Improving data and intelligence including real time surveillance led by PHD 
 
Other national drivers 
 
In addition to the above, the NHS Long Term Plan and Children and Adolescent Mental Health Services transformation 
programmes are working to improve suicide prevention Pan Dorset and will be responsible for developing and monitoring the 
following programmes:   

61



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

6                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

 
• Expanding access to children’s mental health services for 0-25-year old's 
• Improving mental health crisis care with a 24/7 new model of care  
• Specialist perinatal services to women who are in need post the birth of their baby 
• Specialist community teams to help support children and young people with autism and their families 
• Integrated models of primary and community mental health care for adults with severe mental illnesses and support 

individuals who self-harm 
• Post-crisis and bereavement support  
• Quality improvement programme for Inpatient Zero Suicide ambition 
 
The above ambitions are described in other strategies and implementation plans and accountable through the Mental Health 
Programme Board and Joint Commissioning Board and accountable to the Health Overview and Scrutiny Committees. 
 
There is system-wide collaboration to progress the Pan-Dorset suicide prevention work has developed a planning and 
governance structure. The wider Partnership Group meets quarterly to network, support development and advise on planning; 
the multiagency SPP Steering Group takes forward the statutory organisational requirements and monitors planning and 
progress. This group is responsible for updating plans each year. 
 
BCP Council SP Plan leads will progress locally agreed actions for BCP and report via the Health and Wellbeing Board and to 
the ICPCS Portfolio Board via the Suicide Prevention Steering Group. The voice of those who have experienced suicide and/or 
self-harm are extremely important contributors to the SPP work and influence both the business and the partnership meetings. 
BCP Suicide Prevention Plan Consultation 
 
In developing the BCP Council suicide Prevention (mental wellbeing and preventing self-harm) plan, conversations were started 
with colleagues across BCP Council, prompted by evidence and key questions arising from the Samaritans and University of 
Exeter Review of suicide prevention plans. Directors and Heads of Service worked with their teams to consider how they could 
contribute to preventing suicide and self-harm, based on the key actions from the national suicide prevention strategy. 
Measuring Success and Longer-term Outcomes  
 
 
 

62



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

7                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

What engagement or consultation has taken place as part of this EQIA? 
 

Early 2019 the Public Health Team and Partners highlighted the national suicide prevention strategy along with the published 
description of interventions for different groups.  Supporting information is embedded below. 
 
This information along with published ONS baseline data was used to set a baseline of interventions and needs required to set 
the scene for consideration locally. For councils, the CCG or other partners to consider what was required in order to start 
planning the Pan Dorset SP strategy and programme. As part of initial consultation facilitated groups were run early 2020 with the 
SP steering group and Partnership group to discuss key risk groups and themes for action, which are outlined in the BCP plan 
narrative. An example of discussion in the training and development workshop is highlighted in document below. Although these 
themes (described above) are Pan Dorset, the work will fully support the BCP programme delivery in various settings. 
 
Once the Pan Dorset discussions got started there was an evolving narrative to start to plan and develop the BCP Council 
suicide Prevention (mental wellbeing and preventing self-harm) plan. So further consultations were undertaken to see how BCP 
teams could support the SP agenda. Conversations were started with colleagues across BCP Council, prompted by evidence 
and key questions arising from the Samaritans and University of Exeter Review of suicide prevention plans. 
https://www.samaritans.org/news/samaritans-and-university-exeter-publish-first-state-nation-report-local-suicide-prevention/  
 
The public health team wrote out key questions to be discussed with the BCP teams, in order to start the scoping and 
consultation exercise with Directors and Heads of Service. A letter went out to service heads and meetings were set up with each 
area to discuss and agree actions. At each of the meetings national and local evidence was highlighted and ideas for action put 
forward using the description of interventions by different groups. Heads of service worked with their teams and public health 
throughout the year to consider how they could contribute to preventing suicide and self-harm, based on the key actions outlined 
in the national suicide prevention strategy. In the last two months the consultation exercise was repeated to refresh the plan after 
the impact of COVID19. The information from the scoping and consultation meetings was used to develop the action plan for 
BCP Council.  
 
The overall aim of the BCP Suicide Prevention Plan is to reduce both attempted and completed suicides and reduce self-harm 
among children and young people. To understand how to be more effective in achieving these aims for BCP, it is important to 
better understand the groups identified at higher risk. To increase the right support to manage the associated risk factors, a 

63

https://www.samaritans.org/news/samaritans-and-university-exeter-publish-first-state-nation-report-local-suicide-prevention/


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

8                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

summary of which is highlighted in the local profile in section 4. The co-produced plan will agree key success measures and will 
identify shorter term outputs which will measure work towards the longer-term success. 
 
Supporting information related to engagement activity is provided in the documents below: 
 

Scoping questions 

for BCP council suicide prevention action plan.docx

Suicide prevention 

evidence of interventions by groups.docx

PHD Suicide Profile - 

Dec 2020.pptx

training 

pyramid.docx
 

 
National data 
Whilst the national strategy and accompanying EIA assessment are over 8 years old, the Office of National Statistics publishes 
annual dated relating to death by suicide. The 2019 date published this year summaries that: 
 

 There were 5,691 suicides registered in England and Wales, an age-standardised rate of 11.0 deaths per 100,000 
population and consistent with the rate in 2018. 

 Around three-quarters of registered deaths in 2019 were among men (4,303 deaths), which follows a consistent trend back 
to the mid-1990s. 

 The England and Wales male suicide rate of 16.9 deaths per 100,000 is the highest since 2000 and remains in line with 
the rate in 2018; for females, the rate was 5.3 deaths per 100,000, consistent with 2018 and the highest since 2004. 

 Males aged 45 to 49 years had the highest age-specific suicide rate (25.5 deaths per 100,000 males); for females, the age 
group with the highest rate was 50 to 54 years at 7.4 deaths per 100,000. 

 Generally, higher rates of suicide among middle-aged men in recent years might be because this group is more likely to be 
affected by economic adversity, alcoholism and isolation and less inclined to seek help. 

 Despite having a low number of deaths overall, rates among the under 25s have generally increased in recent years, 
particularly 10- to 24-year-old females where the rate has increased significantly since 2012 to its highest level with 3.1 
deaths per 100,000 females in 2019. 

 As seen in previous years, the most common method of suicide in England and Wales was hanging, accounting for 61.7% 
of all suicides among males and 46.7% of all suicides among females. The second most common method of suicide was 
poisoning in both groups. 
 

64



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

9                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

South West Regional  
The South West region had the second highest male suicide rate in 2019 (19.4 per 100,00), although female suicide rate was just 
below average, (4.9 per 100,000). 
 
Nationally Identified High Risk Groups 
 
Children and Young People 
Whilst the largest proportion of suicide are seen within older age groups, there has been an increase nationally in terms of 
younger people taking their life, in particular young men aged 20-24 years, (Samaritans, 2019). The research Samaritan’s carried 
out suggested that suicide is complex, often combining adverse childhood experiences alongside recent stressors/events.  A key 
concern is the significant rise in self harm among young people over the last 15 years.    
 
Men 
The Samaritans published statistics and a trends analysis in 2019. Men are around 3 times more likely to take their own life than 
women in the UK.  Research in 2015 by the Samaritans suggests that this greater risk is due to a complex set of reasons, 
including increased family breakdown leaving more men living alone; the decline of many traditionally male-dominated industries; 
and social expectations about masculinity. Relationship breakdown can also contribute to suicide risk. The greatest risk is among 
divorced men, who in 2015 were almost three times more likely to end their lives than men who were married or in a civil 
partnership. 
 
The National strategy for England also identified agricultural workers, people in Mental health services and those in the criminal 
justice system at a higher risk, many of which are again men.   
 
Victims of domestic abuse 
It is estimated that if one in four women and one in six men experience domestic abuse then this would impact around 53,000 
women and 31,000 men residing across BCP. 
Research carried out by Refuge and Warwick University in 2018, involving a sample of 3,500 clients, found that 24% of Refuge 
clients had felt suicidal a one time or another. 18% had made plans to end their life and 3.1% had made at least one suicide 
attempt. Only 84 people from the sample group were male. 2 were transgender and 1 inter-sex client.  The study did not find 
suicidality in general to be correlated with age, gender or ethnicity and so should be considered across all groups equally. Given 
that wider evidence suggest that male victims of domestic abuse have similar experiences to women, but are less likely to ask for 

65



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

10                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

support or know where to find it, (Huntley, A 2019), then recommended that all victims of domestic abuse are targeted under this 
plan.   
 
There was a positive correlation of suicidality with women experiencing so called ‘honour’ based violence.    
  
BCP Area 
Between 2016-18 the rate of deaths by suicide in BCP area was higher that the average for England, (12.3 per 100,000 
compared to 9.6). The average number of deaths by suicide between 2016-18 was 42. Approximately ¾ of all deaths by suicide 
were males. 77% of people who died by suicide across all Dorset were not involved with mental health services at the time of 
their death, (2106-17).  The highest percentage of deaths occurred in the 45-59 age range for both men and women.  
 
Social isolation, long term health problems or disability, marital break-up, and admissions for self-harm are significantly 
higher than the England average across BCP. In addition, BCP has higher rates of severe mental illness, and higher alcohol 
related hospital admissions. 
 
Bournemouth also has higher estimated prevalence of crack cocaine and/or opiate use (PHE profiles accessed 25/11/19 
(prevalence estimates from: 2014/15& 2016/17), and consistently higher deaths from alcohol (alcohol specific mortality: PHE 
profiles accessed 25/11/19 (2015-17) 
 
Real Time Surveillance (RTS) Update   
 
The national expectation is that most areas around the country are expected to have real time surveillance for suspected 
suicides. The RTS team have worked with Partners including Dorset Police and the Coroner's office to improve RTS, and now 
daily and fortnightly information is available to the team.  
 
RTS data availability will enable BCP council to assess if more suicides are starting to happen and can give an early warning for 
responsive action. RTS will be a guiding light in terms of suicide prevention work that will enable strategic direction to be adjusted 
based on real time information. 
 

 

66



BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

11                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 2 – Supporting Evidence1 
 

If there is insufficient consultation or engagement information please explain in the Action plan what further consultation will be 
undertaken, who with and how. 

Please list or link to any relevant research, census and other evidence or information that is available and relevant to this EIA: 
 

There is the Pan Dorset Suicide Prevention plan which is based on the national strategy but informed by the Dorset context 
including information being gathered through the real time surveillance work. 
 
References: 

1. Department of Health (2011) - Preventing suicide in England: A cross-government outcomes strategy to save lives EIA. 
2. ONS Suicides in England and Wales: 2019 registrations 
3. Samaritans (2019) Suicide Statistics report 
4. Aitken, R and Munro, V.E (2018), ‘Domestic Abuse and Suicide – Exploring the links with refuge’s client base and 

workforce’. www.nspa.org.uk.   
5. Huntley, A. (et al) University of Bristol, (2019) Help-seeking by male victims of domestic abuse (DVA): a systematic review 

and qualitative evidence synthesis. British Medical Journal Open  
   

Please list below any service user/employee monitoring data available and relevant to this policy/service/process and what it 
shows in relation to any Protected Characteristic: 
 
The Dorset wide Suicide Prevention Partnership work includes the development of real time surveillance information.  This 
gathers up to date information about deaths by suicide and attempted suicides.  The data is new and not being used in the public 
domain yet because there is a need to ensure reliability in the data.  However, there is enough and emerging data to inform how 
many people die by suicide, how, where and when and enough information to be able to say whether there are any groups more 
likely to end their lives and who will most benefit from this suicide prevention plan.   
 
 

If there is insufficient research and monitoring data, please explain in the Action plan what information will be gathered: 

 
 

67

https://assets.publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/267020/Preventing_suicide_equalities_impact-1.pdf
https://www.ons.gov.uk/peoplepopulationandcommunity/birthsdeathsandmarriages/deaths/bulletins/suicidesintheunitedkingdom/2019registrations
https://media.samaritans.org/documents/SamaritansSuicideStatsReport_2019_Full_report.pdf
https://www.nspa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/New-Suicide-Report2c-Refuge-and-University-of-Warwick.pdf
https://www.nspa.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/08/New-Suicide-Report2c-Refuge-and-University-of-Warwick.pdf
http://www.nspa.org.uk/
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/6/e021960
https://bmjopen.bmj.com/content/9/6/e021960


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

12                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known, please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

1.  Age2 

In the Dorset area including BCP there is 
evidence that older people might be more likely 
to end their lives by suicide and so this work 
should be based, on RTS have positive 
outcomes for people in this group.  The plan 
also targets Children and young people in 
recognition of increase of deaths nationally.  

 

2. Disability3 

The Suicide prevention work covers anyone 
living in BCP area and there should be positive 
outcomes for people who have disabilities.  
Long term conditions may increase the risk of 
depression and suicide and therefore the 
impact on people who have disability should be 
positive. 

 

3. Sex 

Men are more likely to end their lives by 
suicide than women in Dorset/BCP area.  Men 
are more likely to die via more violent means 
such as ligature or gun shot.  There are 
number of women who have ended their lives.  
There are a high number of women repeatedly 
attempting suicide and by this increasing the 
risk of death by suicide or misadventure.  BCP 
will use data information to target their support 

 

                                         
2 Under this characteristic, The Equality Act only applies to those over 18. 
3 Consider any reasonable adjustments that may need to be made to ensure fair access. 

68

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

13                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known, please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

and so hopefully see positive outcomes in the 
reduced number of deaths by suicide. 

4. Gender 
reassignment4 

People transitioning are more likely to 
experience poor mental health and are at 
higher risk of suicide than the rest of the 
population and the BCP prevention plan covers 
all people who might experience suicidal 
thinking and behaviour and as such the 
outcomes for people transitioning should be 
positive. 

 

5. Pregnancy and 
Maternity 

The plan targets everyone and it is anticipated 
that there will be positive outcomes across the 
board. 

 

6. Marriage and Civil 
Partnership 

The plan targets everyone and it is anticipated 
that there will be positive outcomes across the 
board. 

 

7. Race  

People who have ended their lives since May 
when the real time surveillance work started 
have been white and British.  Two people have 
been identified as being from other ethnic 
groups.  However, the plan applies to everyone 

 

                                         
4 Transgender refers people have a gender identity or gender expression that differs to the sex assigned at birth.  

69

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

14                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known, please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

and it is anticipated that there will be positive 
outcomes across the board. 

8. Religion or Belief 

The plan targets everyone and it is anticipated 
that there will be positive outcomes across the 
board. 

 

9. Sexual Orientation 

LGBTQ people are at higher risk of poor 
mental health and at higher risk of suicide than 
the rest of the population.  At present most 
people who have ended their lives have been 
identified as heterosexual.  The plan however 
targets everyone and it is anticipated that there 
will be positive outcomes across the board. 

 

10. Any other 
factors/groups e.g. 
socio-economic 
status/carers etc5 

Deaths by suicide across Dorset and BCP 
occur in all socio-economic groups and as 
such the plan aims to reduce the number of 
deaths by suicide and if at all possible, prevent 
all death by suicide. 

 

11. Human Rights 

This poses an interesting ethical question.  As 
a council BCP would want to ensure that 
everyone has other possibilities than to end 
their life by suicide.   

People will end their lives by suicide, and it is not an 
illegal act and the decision can be made with full 
mental and intellectual capacity. 
 

                                         
5 People on low incomes or no income, unemployed, carers, part-time, seasonal workers and shift workers 

70

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

15                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

Part 3 – Assessing the Impact by Equality Characteristic 
 
Use the evidence to determine to the impacts, positive or negative for each Equality Characteristic listed below. Listing negative 
impacts will help protect the organisation from potential litigation in the future, it does not mean the policy cannot continue. 
Click here for more guidance on how to understand the impact of the service/policy/procedure against each characteristic. 
If the impact is not known, please explain in the Action plan what steps will be taken to find out. 

 
Actual or potential positive outcome Actual or potential negative outcome 

The strategy and plan aims to prevent death by 
suicide by providing information, support, 
advice etc.  It is hoped that suicide deaths will 
be prevented and the number of deaths due to 
suicide will decrease. 

It is the sincere hope of BCP council that wherever 
possible deaths by suicide will be prevented.  There is 
the chance though that deaths may still occur. 

 
 

 
Any policy which shows actual or potential unlawful discrimination must be stopped, removed or changed. 

 

Part 4 – Equality Impact Action Plan 
 
Please complete this Action Plan for any negative or unknown impacts identified in the assessment table above.  
 

Issue identified Action required to reduce impact Timescale Responsible officer 

    

    

    

 

71

https://www.equalityhumanrights.com/en/equality-act/protected-characteristics


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

16                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

 
Key contacts for further advice and guidance:  
 
Equality & Diversity: 
Sam Johnson - Policy and Performance Manager    
 
Consultation & Research: 
Lisa Stuchberry – Insight Manager  
 
 
Appendix 1  
 
Dorset Suicide Prevention Steering Group 
 
 Organisation 

1 Public Health Dorset 

2 Dorset CCG 

3 Dorset Police 

4 Dorset Police Crime Commissioners Office 

5 British Transport Police 

6 South West Ambulance Service 

7 Royal Bournemouth & Christchurch Hospitals 

8 Poole Hospital 

9 Dorset Healthcare 

10 Dorset County Hospital 

11 BCP Council 

12 Dorset Council 

13 Southwest Rail 

15 Bournemouth Uni 

16 Local Pharmaceutical Committee (LPC) 

17 Devon and N Dorset Prisons Group 

18 Coroner's Office 

72

mailto:sam.johnson@bcpcouncil.gov.uk
mailto:lisa.stuchbury@bcpcouncil.gov.uk


BCP Equality Impact Assessment Template  
 

17                                                    Insight, Policy and Performance Team 
December 2019 

19 DHC/PH Hampshire 

20 Dorset MIND 

21 Dorset Mental Health Forum 

22 Samaritans 

23 NHS England 

24 NHS Public Health England 

 
 

 

73



T
his page is intentionally left blank

74



Dorset Suicide Prevention Strategy  
&  

Implementation Plan 
 

Introduction 
 
Dorset has had a suicide prevention (SP) strategy for four years since the national suicide prevention strategy came in to being.  The 
strategy was developed in partnership with a range of VCSE and statutory organisations. The Samaritans, Dorset Mind, Dorset MH 
Forum, Rethink Mental Illness, people who have personal experience of the impact of suicide or attempted suicides came together 
with Public Health Dorset, BCP Council, Dorset Council, Dorset Police, South West Ambulance Service, Dorset Health Care, Dorset 
Clinical Commissioning Group.  
 
The National Suicide Prevention Strategy and Crisis Care Concordat were the initial drivers for the development of the Dorset 
Strategy. Subsequently the NHS Five Year Forward and then in 2019 the NHS Long-Term Plan has included suicide reduction targets 
(10%) which is a consideration in the Dorset strategy but not the main driving force.  The main ambition is to work to prevent all 
deaths by suicide where possible.  This ambition is outlined in the vision statement below.   
 
The Suicide Prevention Strategy has been reviewed each year and develop and this year there is a deliverable plan with finances 
linked to it that will enable the delivery of the strategy. 
 
During 2020 partners have been able to review the strategy and develop the implementation plan.  There have been two 
fundamental changes that have driven forward the developments.  
 
1. Funding became available on a recurrent basis which has enabled the six workstreams in the strategy to be taken forward. 
2. Real time surveillance data informing about deaths due to suicide and attempted suicides.  This data will enable the strategy to be 

targeted to need or emerging themes such as location or method. 
 
The two factors above in tandem with the continued partnership commitment has given direction and renewed energy to work 
toward no death by suicide in Dorset.  
 

75



 
 
 

Suicide Prevention in Dorset  
The Vision 

 
It is the shared vision of all partners signed up to the suicide prevention strategy that “no 
one living in Dorset will reach the point where they feel or believe that they have no other 
choice but to attempt suicide or to end their life by suicide”. 
 
The overriding ambition of the strategy is to prevent death by suicide.  The intention is to 
achieve zero-suicides - Suicide is preventable. 
 
This will be achieved by compassionately and consistently providing information, advice and 
support based on the identified needs, trends and themes emerging from the Real Time 
Surveillance Data; and from then on work, to ensure that people in Dorset have the right 
support to enable them to make different choices. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

76



How the vision be realised 
 
There are six workstreams in the strategy all with separate functions but with overlapping aims and all responsive to the information 
being provided through the real time surveillance.  The six workstreams are: 
 

i. Develop and use real time surveillance (RTS) data about deaths by suicide and attempted suicides to inform the strategy and 
local responses.  The RTS information will help shape strategy, influence practice and create the responsive iterative plan that 
is flexible enough to respond to changing trends and local need.   

a. The Suicide Interruption Group development will seek to address the needs of people who frequently attempt suicide.  
The aim of this group is to prevent people moving from the attempt data to the completed suicide list. 

ii. Support the development of a group of people who have lived experience related to the impact of suicide or attempted 
suicide.  The group will have support to develop their skills in relation to using their lived experience to help others. The group 
will advise, recommend and support any developments linked to the prevention strategy. 

iii. Develop the Voluntary Community Social Enterprise partnership group to extend the delivery reach of the strategy and build 
resilience in local communities. 

iv. Development of a bereavement offer for people who have experienced the loss of someone through suicide (also included 
complicated loss linked to Covid) 

v. Develop a rolling programme of suicide prevention training aimed wherever needed as information comes in through the RTS 
vi. Develop local media campaign aimed at suicide prevention in Dorset in both rural and conurbation areas. 

 
Each workstream has or will have a “product description” that describes what is expected in terms of preparation and delivery with 
timescales and outcomes clearly articulated.   
 
Each product description will be codesigned with the identified leads and the steering group to ensure consistency with the vision 
expressed above.  
 
The Governance for the work is described in the next section. 
 
 

 

77



 
 

78



 

 
 
 

79



Suicide Prevention Strategy Implementation Plan 
Workstream Purpose Lead organisation By when 

Development of real 
time surveillance 
(RTS) 

The real time surveillance (RTS) will enable up to date information about deaths by suicide 
and attempted suicides in Dorset.  This information will enable immediate responses to 
emerging trends and themes and can help shape and reshape the ongoing implementation 
of the strategy. 
The development of a Suicide interruption Group will work to reduce the number of 
attempted suicides will develop mini work plan to achieve improved communications and 
responsiveness to client need. 

PH Dorset 
 
 
 
 
Dorset CCG 

May 2020 
 
 
 
 
September 
2020 

Develop lived 
experience champions  
 

The strategy places great importance on people who have lived experience of the impact 
of suicide.  Throughout the partnership development lived experience has been a central 
feature and the aim is to develop a number of champions that work in to all the 
workstreams to keep this central to the work.   

Dorset MH Forum April 2021 

Bereavement and 
media specialist  
 

Two posts to be developed to work within the context of the Open-Door Service which is 
the Bereavement Support Partnership developed in response to deaths by suicide and 
death due to Covid.  One post supporting the media and communications and the other 
post is a bereavement support co-ordinator to help people access the right part of the 
service to meet their needs.  The Open-Door offer is a partnership offer including, Dorset 
Mind, Cruse, Race Equalities Council and Rethink Mental Illness.  The service is for people 
experiencing complicated grief and will complement the work in Steps to Wellbeing. 

Dorset MH Forum 
and Wellbeing and 
Recovery 
Partnership 

September 
2020 

Community and 
Partnership group to 
be developed 

The strategy has taken a partnership approach from the beginning. The aim is to have a 
strong working partnership, able to respond to needs and trends as they emerge from the 
RTS.  The hoped is that the Voluntary Community Social Enterprise (VCSE) organisations 
will be able to mobilise and support people at risk of suicide or of attempting suicide.  It is 
also hoped that the partners will take the lead in developing the partnership response. A 
menta health alliance might be the vehicle for achieving the ambition in the vision.   

Dorset Mind Ongoing from 
April 2021 

Suicide Prevention 
Training 

This will be work with partners and will include:   

 SP First Aid,  

 Safe talk and Assist and  

 Specific High-Risk training  
The training initially with be offered in primary care and to first responders 

PH Dorset Ongoing from 
April 2021 

Local Media 
Campaigns 

These will be developed in response to local need as it emerges but may also develop a 
suicide prevention campaign that is more generic for the Dorset context similar to the 
Manchester approach. 

Kirsty Hillier April 2021 

 

80



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The real time surveillance 

In terms of the delivery of the Suicide Prevention Strategy this work is the game changer that will enable the 

partnership group, the lived experience champions, the training and the comms and media groups to shape and 

develop a responsive iterative approach that will save lives. 

Dorset has real time information about people who end their lives by suicide and real time information about people 

who make attempts at suicide. 

Information coming to the data group shows themes, trends, locations and over time will build a comprehensive 

understanding of completed suicides and will provide an understanding specific to Dorset of people who frequently 

attempt suicide. 

This real time information will enable the strategy and key workstreams to develop based on the understanding 

local need. 

 

81



 

The Suicide interruption Group 
 
This is a group of people working with people in Dorset.  They work in various setting such as mental health commissioning or mental 
health services or in safeguarding or the police or drug and alcohol services.  The group meets every two weeks and has terms of 
reference and has governance and privacy impact assessment in place to make sure that all information is held in compliance with 
information Governance rules. 
 
The information comes to the group via the RTS group that meets re suicide attempts.  The criteria for coming to the Suicide 
interruption Group is that they have come to the attention of Dorset Police or SWASFT more than two times in a month.  Most of the 
people so far have come to the attention of the police much more frequently than x2 in a month. 
 
The group looks at the incidents, looks at what support is in place or not.  Asks the question about is everything possible being done 
to mitigate risk and containing through support that individual whilst they are at a crisis point.  The group has members that are able 
to influence practice and work to ensure that services are responding to presenting need in the way the person needs. 
 
The group is in the formative stages but already has identified some key areas that will form the basis of a work plan. 
 
The areas are 
 

 Multi Agency Risk Management Meetings process and communication 

 My Wellbeing and risk plans for every person who comes to the SIG 

 Risk share protocol to enable different decisions to be made based on need and my wellbeing plans not just risk where 
possible 

 The role of alcohol in attempted suicides 
 
As the group settles into the role the above issues will be described in detail and have an agreed plan for development and 
implementation.  The processes are described in the following 2 diagrams. 
 

 

82



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Lived Experience Champions Group 

Dorset’s Suicide Prevention Strategy has as a golden thread, the ambition for every workstream to have lived 

experience at the centre. 

The lived experience champions group will be developed, and each person supported to deliberately share their 

experience to help inform the development and delivery of all the work streams in the Suicide Prevention Strategy. 

The lived experience champions will work across and influence all the workstreams so that everything in the 

strategy has people at the heart of it. 

The champions will have an agreed remit and influence all the other workstreams along with the VCSE partnership 

group. 

83



 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The Suicide Prevention Partnership Group 

 

The Suicide Prevention Partnership Group is made up of all the partners involved in suicide prevention across 

Dorset.  The structure of the suicide prevention work included a Steering Group and the Partnership Group. The 

two are interdependent and information goes back and forth between the groups so that there is always a cross 

check between the two groups. 

The partnership group is represented on the Prevention Steering Group so that there is proper join up with all the 

workstreams the Dorset Strategy is taking forward. 

The Partnership is made up of Voluntary, Community, Social Enterprise organisations and other interested parties 

include business people and others. The role of the group is to take forward the strategy and work in the wider 

community to share the messages that suicide is preventable and to get people across Dorset aware of and 

equipped to talk to people about suicide and suicide prevention. 

The VCSE organisations and partners have a huge reach into local communities in Dorset and the partnership group 

is able to deliver their own organisations ambitions as well as work within the context of the Dorset wide Suicide 

Prevention Strategy.  

 

84



 
 

Media and Communications Group 
 

The media and communications group is responsible for developing all the communications and messaging across 
Dorset in relation to national, regional and local information connected to suicide and suicide prevention.   
 
The initial media and communications (comms) work has been agreed by the steering and partnership groups and 
this will proceed until there is clear local intelligence data to inform the next range of comms and media. 
 
The real time surveillance intelligence data will help to shape the next tranche of work, for example, if it is clear 
from the data that a group of people are more likely to be at risk of death by suicide then the comms and media 
approach will be to provide information and target comms towards these groups and to the people who provide 
support. 
 
The comms and media group will also be influenced by the partnership group and the lived experience champions 
because they will identify areas where comms and media support is crucial in delivering information to as wide an 
audience as possible. 
 
The group, as with the other workstream groups will report and be accountable to the Suicide Prevention Steering 
Group to ensure that the work is delivered and supported as needed by the Steering Group. 
 

 
 

 

 
 
 
 

85



 
 
 

The Training Group 
 

The training group is responsible for suicide prevention themed training. Not all of this will be named suicide 
prevention training, but all the training agreed by the Steering Group will have a prevention golden thread. 
 
There are several training plans in place agreed by the steering group and initially there are three areas all targeted 
at front line staff, first responders and primary care and these are: 
 
This will be work with partners and will include: 
 

 SP First Aid, 

 Safe talk and Assist and 

 Specific High-Risk training 
 
As the real time surveillance starts to be relied upon and the partnership and lived experience groups start to 
develop their work additional training areas will emerge.  For example, men are at higher risk nationally (and 
appears to be the same across Dorset) would the Steering Group partners want to develop a training offer to 
barbers or sports clubs, or other places men frequent including work places. 
 
 
 

 
 

86



Forward Plan – BCP Health & Adult Social Care Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

 Meeting Date – 18 January 2021 
 

1 Home First programme  
(including update on Better Care 
Fund)  
 
To receive a report on the Home 
First programme which is being 
implemented by NHS partners and 
Councils to ensure that people 
leaving hospital do so in a timely 
way and return to their own home 
whenever possible; receive 
therapeutic and reablement 
support on leaving hospital and 
their longer term needs are 
assessed outside of a hospital 
setting.  
 

The item will provide information on 
the introduction of a Home First 
model of hospital discharge which 
NHS partners and Councils have 
implemented from 8/10/2020 in line 
with national guidance 
implemented during the 
Coronavirus pandemic.  The report 
will provide information on how 
hospital discharge has been 
managed throughout the 
Coronavirus period; on the 
experience of the public; the impact 
on the Better Care Fund and the 
financial implications for the 
Council.  

Report Phil Hornsby,  
Director of Adult Social Care Commissioning  
 
David Vitty,  
Director of Adult Social Care Services 
 

2 COVID19 Update 
 
To receive an update from Public 
Health Dorset and Adult Social 
Care Services on COVID19; 

To enable the Committee to 
monitor the ongoing pandemic and 
scrutinise the relevant 
organisations’ responses to 
COVID19. 

Presentation Sam Crowe,  

Director of Public Health Dorset 

 
 
 
Jan Thurgood,  

87

A
genda Item

 11



 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

including an update on the 
Outbreak Management Plan. 
 

Corporate Director of Adult Social Care 

3 Suicide Prevention Plan  
 
To receive a report on the 
Council’s Suicide Prevention Plan. 

To offer recommendations on the 
BCP Council Suicide Prevention 
Plan in advance of its consideration 
by Cabinet. 

Report  Sam Crowe,  

Director of Public Health Dorset 

 

Sophia Callaghan, 

Assistant Director of Public Health 

 

 

 Meeting Date – 8 March 2021 
4 COVID19 Update 

 
To receive an update from Public 
Health Dorset and Adult Social 
Care Services on COVID19. 
 

To enable the Committee to 
monitor the ongoing pandemic and 
scrutinise the relevant 
organisations’ responses to 
COVID-19. 

Presentation Sam Crowe,  

Director of Public Health Dorset 

 
Jan Thurgood,  
Corporate Director of Adult Social Care 

5 Strategic Outline Case 
 
To receive an informative update 
from the Transformation Director of 
the University Hospitals Dorset 
NHS Foundation Trust New 
Hospitals Programme and what it 
means for Dorset. 

 
To enable to Committee to stay 
updated on the business case 
(called the Strategic Outline Case) 
being sent to NHS 
England/Improvement. 
 
 
 
 

TBC Steve Killen,  
Transformation Director 
University Hospitals Dorset, NHS Foundation 
Trust 
 
 

88



 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

6 Healthwatch Update 
 
To receive an update from 
Healthwatch Dorset. 

TBC TBC Louise Bate,  
Healthwatch Dorset Manager 
 
 
 

 Meeting Date – 24 May 2021 
7 Adult Social Care: Point of First 

Contact Service 

 
To receive a progress report in 
respect of the new adult social 
care intake service. 
 
(Delayed start – October 2020) 

To ensure that the Committee has 
information on the progress of the 
new adult social care intake 
service. 

Report David Vitty,  
Director of Adult Social Care Services 
 
Tim Branson,  
Service Manager, Adult Social Care 
 

 

8 The Big Plan – Update 

 
To receive an update on the 
progress in delivery of The Big 
Plan, including health checks and 
the employment offer as well as 
the impact of COVID19. 

 

The update will allow members to 
monitor the progress of the 
highlighted areas of BCP Council’s 
‘Big Plan’. 
 
 

 

Report Jo O’Connell,  
Principal Officer, Joint Commissioning 
Learning Disability 
 
Jen Collis-Heavens,  
 
Mark Harris – CCG 
 
 
 
 

 
9 Social Care Developing Market 

Statement 
 

The item will inform the Committee 
and enable them to scrutinise 

Report Phil Hornsby,  
Director of Adult Social Care Commissioning  

89



 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

To receive a report on the 
developing social care market 
including information on the 
service area’s expenditure and 
high-level strategies. 

 

relevant areas of the social care 
market.  

 Meeting Date TBC 

10 Dorset Clinical Commissioning 
Group (CCG) – Mental Health 
Rehabilitation Service  
 
That an update on the strategic 
business case, including the 
financial details of the service 
would be provided to members. 
The next steps would also be 
highlighted. 
 

The information provided will 
ensure that Councillors are aware 
of the proposals in this respect, 
and the views of the next stage of 
the process to be undertaken by 
the CCG.  

Presentation 
and report. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Mark Harris,  
Dorset CCG 
 
Elaine Hurll,  
Dorset CCG 

11 Dementia Services Review  
 
To receive an update on progress 
since the Dementia Services 
Review. 
 

To inform O&S of progress in 
Dementia Services November 
2021/January 2022.  

Report  Mark Harris,  

Dorset CCG 

12 Structural Review of 
Safeguarding Community Safety 
Partnership. 

To ensure the committee are 
informed of any changes to the 
arrangements. 

Report Barrie Crook 

90



 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

Independent Chair of Bournemouth, 

Christchurch and Poole Safeguarding Adults 

Board 

13 Liberty Protection Safeguards 
 
(Delayed implementation date of 
April 2022). 

For the Committee to be informed 
of the changes in legislation to the 
Liberty Protection Safeguards.  

TBC David Vitty,  

Director of Adult Social Care 

 

 

Commissioned Work 
Work commissioned by the Committee (for example task and finish groups and working groups) is listed below. 
 
Note – to provide sufficient resource for effective scrutiny, one item of commissioned work will run at a time. Further commissioned work can 
commence upon completion of previous work. 
 

14 The South West Ambulance 
Service Trust Improvement and 
Financial Investment Plan  
 
 

To scrutinise the impact of the 
improvement and financial 
investment plan on the response 
times and outcomes of the 
Ambulance Service 

Possible joint 
scrutiny with 
Dorset Council 

Jan Thurgood,  

Corporate Director for Adult Social Care 

 

15 The implementation and 
performance of NHS Dorset 
Urgent Integrated Care Services 
 
 

To scrutinise the impact, service 
performance and outcomes of the 
NHS Dorset Urgent Integrated 
Care Services (April 2020, 1 year 
after implementation). 

Possible Joint 
Scrutiny with 
Dorset Council 

Jan Thurgood, Corporate Director for Adult 

Social Care  

 

16 External Scrutiny – Quality 
Accounts  
 

Scrutiny leads for NHS Dorset 
Quality Accounts finalised and sent 
to the Principal Officer of Planning 
and Quality Accounts on 3 

To ensure 
Committee 
members have 
the opportunity 
to scrutinise 

Elaine Stratman 

Principal Officer Planning and Quality 

Assurance 

 

 

91



 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

(Item has been postponed until at 
least the end of the year due to 
COVID19). 
 

February 2020, to begin meeting 
arrangements.  
 
 

the quality 
accounts of 
NHS Trusts. 

 

 

 

 

17 Adult Social Care Charging 
Strategy – Update 
 
A request from Cllr H Allen for a 
brief, general update on the 
implementation of the Adult Social 
Care Charging Strategy, it’s 
progress and any cases of 
mitigation action. 
 
(Expected Summer 2021) 
 

To allow the Committee to monitor 
the progress of delivering the 
strategy and identify any areas 
requiring further scrutiny. 

Report David Vitty - Director of Adult Social Care 

Services 

 

Peter Courage - Head of Service 

Development, Adult Social Care 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

18 Health services for people who 
are Homeless and Rough 
Sleeping 
 
 
 
 
 

For the Committee to scrutinise the 
health services available to people 
who are homeless and the 
Homelessness Strategy prior to 
Cabinet in March 2021. 
 

The format of 
this item will be 
reviewed 
following an all-
member 
information 
session on 7 
January 2021, 
in order to 
most effectively 
target scrutiny. 

TBC 

 

 

 

 

  

 

 

 

Development Session Forward Planning 2021 

92



 Subject and background Anticipated benefits and 
value to be added by O&S 
engagement 
 

How will the 
scrutiny be 
done? 
 

Lead Officer 
 

 
Work to be discussed by Committee at Development Sessions and to be strategically placed on the Forward Plan when as and when necessary. 
 

Training Required for new members of the Committee and any other associated training. 
 

 
 

93



T
his page is intentionally left blank

94


	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	5 Action Sheet
	9 Home First Programme (including update on the Better Care Fund)
	10 BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan
	Enc. 1 for BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan
	Enc. 4 for BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan
	Enc. 3 for BCP Council Suicide Prevention Plan

	11 Forward Plan

